
U.S. GOVERNMENT PRINTING OFFICE

WASHINGTON : 

For sale by the Superintendent of Documents, U.S. Government Printing Office
Internet: bookstore.gpo.gov Phone: toll free (866) 512–1800; DC area (202) 512–1800

Fax: (202) 512–2250 Mail: Stop SSOP, Washington, DC 20402–0001

72–339 PDF 2012 

S. HRG. 112–230 

THE SEMIANNUAL MONETARY POLICY REPORT 
TO CONGRESS 

HEARING 
BEFORE THE 

COMMITTEE ON 

BANKING, HOUSING, AND URBAN AFFAIRS 

UNITED STATES SENATE 
ONE HUNDRED TWELFTH CONGRESS 

FIRST SESSION 

ON 

THE FEDERAL RESERVE’S SEMIANNUAL MONETARY POLICY REPORT 
TO CONGRESS 

JULY 14, 2011 

Printed for the use of the Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs 

( 

Available at: http: //www.fdsys.gov/ 



COMMITTEE ON BANKING, HOUSING, AND URBAN AFFAIRS 

TIM JOHNSON, South Dakota, Chairman 
JACK REED, Rhode Island 
CHARLES E. SCHUMER, New York 
ROBERT MENENDEZ, New Jersey 
DANIEL K. AKAKA, Hawaii 
SHERROD BROWN, Ohio 
JON TESTER, Montana 
HERB KOHL, Wisconsin 
MARK R. WARNER, Virginia 
JEFF MERKLEY, Oregon 
MICHAEL F. BENNET, Colorado 
KAY HAGAN, North Carolina 

RICHARD C. SHELBY, Alabama 
MIKE CRAPO, Idaho 
BOB CORKER, Tennessee 
JIM DEMINT, South Carolina 
DAVID VITTER, Louisiana 
MIKE JOHANNS, Nebraska 
PATRICK J. TOOMEY, Pennsylvania 
MARK KIRK, Illinois 
JERRY MORAN, Kansas 
ROGER F. WICKER, Mississippi 

DWIGHT FETTIG, Staff Director 
WILLIAM D. DUHNKE, Republican Staff Director 

CHARLES YI, Chief Counsel 
MARC JARSULIC, Chief Economist 
LAURA SWANSON, Policy Director 

ANDREW OLMEM, Republican Chief Counsel 
MIKE PIWOWAR, Republican Senior Economist 

DANA WADE, Professional Staff Member 

DAWN RATLIFF, Chief Clerk 
BRETT HEWITT, Hearing Clerk 
SHELVIN SIMMONS, IT Director 

JIM CROWELL, Editor 

(II) 



(III) 

C O N T E N T S 

THURSDAY, JULY 14, 2011 

Page 

Opening statement of Chairman Johnson ............................................................. 1 
Opening statements, comments, or prepared statements of: 

Senator Shelby .................................................................................................. 2 
Senator Moran: 

Prepared statement ................................................................................... 41 

WITNESS 

Ben S. Bernanke, Chairman, Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve 
System ................................................................................................................... 3 

Prepared statement .......................................................................................... 41 
Response to written questions of: 

Senator Shelby ........................................................................................... 105 
Senator Reed .............................................................................................. 107 





(1) 

THE SEMIANNUAL MONETARY POLICY 
REPORT TO CONGRESS 

THURSDAY, JULY 14, 2011 

U.S. SENATE, 
COMMITTEE ON BANKING, HOUSING, AND URBAN AFFAIRS, 

Washington, DC. 
The Committee met at 10:03 a.m. in room SD–538, Dirksen Sen-

ate Office Building, Hon. Tim Johnson, Chairman of the Com-
mittee, presiding. 

OPENING STATEMENT OF CHAIRMAN TIM JOHNSON 

Chairman JOHNSON. I call this hearing to order. 
We are pleased to welcome Chairman Bernanke, who today will 

deliver the Federal Reserve’s semiannual Monetary Policy Report 
to the Congress. His testimony comes at an important moment. 

While our economy is recovering from the disaster created by the 
financial crisis, the recovery is far from complete. Employment is 
unacceptably low. The civilian unemployment rate remains at 9.2 
percent. The high levels of unemployment are matched by output 
that is significantly lower than it ought to be. CBO estimates of po-
tential GDP show that the economy is 5.6 percent below what it 
could be producing. And, of course, the housing market, which is 
an important source of wealth for many families and our economy, 
has yet to recover from the collapse of the house price bubble. Al-
though prices are down significantly from the 2006 peak level, in-
ventories of vacant houses remain high, and residential investment 
is below pre-bubble levels. 

In addition to these domestic economic problems, there are con-
cerns about how the European sovereign debt crisis will develop 
and what affect it may have on our financial markets and institu-
tions. 

Determining the best policy responses to such a complicated set 
of economic circumstances is no easy matter, but one thing is cer-
tain. We need to put the financial market safeguards of the Dodd- 
Frank Act into place as soon as reasonably possible. We must pre-
vent a repetition of the events of 2007 and 2008. 

Chairman Bernanke, I look forward to your insights on these 
issues and to discussing the policy course the Federal Reserve has 
taken. 

To preserve time for questions, opening statements will be lim-
ited to the Chair and Ranking Member. I now turn to Ranking 
Member Shelby. 
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STATEMENT OF SENATOR RICHARD C. SHELBY 
Senator SHELBY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. Welcome again, 

Chairman Bernanke. 
Last month the Federal Open Market Committee announced the 

end of its second round of so-called quantitative easing, commonly 
referred to as QE2. Chairman Bernanke had claimed that because 
of QE2 we no longer have the deflation risk. The data seems to 
support his claim here. 

For example, the 12-month change in the Consumer Price Index, 
which was 1.1 percent as recently as November, reached 3.6 per-
cent in May. The rise in inflation, however, reveals that the Fed’s 
most challenging task still lies ahead, I believe. 

The Federal Reserve’s balance sheet presently stands at about 
$2.9 trillion while the Federal funds rate has been effectively zero 
for more than 2 1⁄2 years. As a result, I believe the stage is set for 
a resurgence of inflation if the Fed is not real careful. 

The task confronting the Fed is how to unwind its massive bal-
ance sheet without sparking more inflation or damaging the econ-
omy—a real task in itself. Unfortunately, the dismal performance 
of our economy and our record Federal deficit will make this ex-
ceedingly difficult in the years ahead. 

Chairman Bernanke I believe must also contend with the con-
sequences of the Administration’s economic policies. The failure to 
adopt a pro-growth economic plan or to restrain Federal spending 
has effectively boxed the Fed into a corner. If the Fed is to curb 
inflation, it ultimately has to raise interest rates, but the absence 
of economic growth will likely make such a move more painful for 
the economy. 

If the Fed does not raise interest rates, higher inflation is almost 
assured. Federal borrowing costs could soar, worsening the already 
severe Federal budget crisis that we have. 

The last thing our weak economy needs right now is an inflation 
scare. The economic history of the 1970s should have taught us 
that it is more painful to get inflation under control than it is to 
keep inflation in check in the first place. 

History also demonstrates that the Fed’s monetary policy usually 
remains too loose for too long. Accordingly, our markets are watch-
ing to see if Chairman Bernanke has not only a credible plan but 
also the will to take the difficult actions necessary to prevent infla-
tion. 

Today’s hearing gives Chairman Bernanke an opportunity to re-
assure our markets by explaining to the American people how the 
Fed intends to navigate through this difficult period. 

During Chairman Bernanke’s last Humphrey-Hawkins testi-
mony, I was pleased that he explicitly stated the Fed’s price sta-
bility target is about 2 percent. Today I would like to know more 
about how the Fed plans to achieve this target. For example, what 
is the acceptable range around a 2-percent inflation target? Does 
the Fed think that the recent inflation data, which shows inflation 
above 3 percent, violates this target? If inflation is above target, 
how does the Fed plan to reduce it? 

In addition, I would like to know how the ongoing turmoil in the 
European Union could impact monetary policy here. In particular, 
will the euro crisis further constrain the Fed’s ability to maintain 
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price stability? More transparency we all believe is needed with re-
gard to how the Fed plans to unwind its record balance sheet. And 
although the Federal Open Market Committee has terminated 
QE2, it has said that it will maintain the policy of reinvesting prin-
cipal payments from its existing securities holdings. 

Chairman Bernanke’s testimony here further indicates that the 
Federal Open Market Committee may consider another round of 
quantitative easing if the weak economy continues, and as a result, 
the Fed’s balance sheet could easily balloon way beyond $3 trillion. 

It appears that the Fed may be going in the wrong direction. Re-
cent Federal Open Market Committee minutes, however, indicate 
that the Fed is developing plans for addressing its balance sheet. 
I hope that Chairman Bernanke can shed here this morning more 
light on the options that the Fed is considering and when the Fed 
will begin its difficult task. 

Finally, I would like to commend Chairman Bernanke on his re-
cent decision to hold press conferences after Federal Open Market 
Committee meetings. This is an important step that recognizes 
that the Fed can no longer make policy behind closed doors. This 
is a positive development because the Fed’s policies will be more 
effective if they are understood and supported by the public. 

This step also recognizes that the Fed’s secretive history is an 
antiquated practice that simply is incompatible with a free society. 
The Fed is a public institution, and the public has the right to ex-
pect both transparency and accountability. The Fed still has far to 
go in opening up, but I hope Chairman Bernanke will continue his 
efforts to modernize the Fed’s transparency. I believe the American 
people deserve nothing less. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Chairman JOHNSON. Chairman Bernanke, before you begin your 

testimony, I wanted to let you know that I may have to excuse my-
self during today’s hearing. In another role as Chairman of the 
Military Construction VA’s Appropriations Subcommittee, I may 
need to be on the floor this morning as we begin debate on that 
bill. Senator Reed will be taking over the gavel. 

Senator Reed, thank you. 
Chairman Bernanke, please begin. 

STATEMENT OF BEN S. BERNANKE, CHAIRMAN, BOARD OF 
GOVERNORS OF THE FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM 

Mr. BERNANKE. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, Ranking Member 
Shelby, and other Members of the Committee. I am pleased to 
present the Federal Reserve’s semiannual Monetary Policy Report 
to the Congress. I will start with a discussion of current economic 
conditions and the outlook and then turn to monetary policy. 

The U.S. economy has continued to recover, but the pace of the 
expansion so far this year has been modest. After increasing at an 
annual rate of 2 3⁄4 percent in the second half of 2010, real GDP 
rose at about a 2-percent rate in the first quarter of this year, and 
incoming data suggest that the pace of recovery remained soft in 
the spring. At the same time, the unemployment rate, which had 
appeared to be on a downward trajectory at the turn of the year, 
has moved back above 9 percent. 
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In part, the recent weaker-than-expected economic performance 
appears to have been the result of several factors that are likely 
to be temporary. Notably, the run-up in prices of energy, especially 
gasoline, and food has reduced consumer purchasing power. In ad-
dition, the supply chain disruptions that occurred following the 
earthquake in Japan caused U.S. motor vehicle producers to sharp-
ly curtail assemblies and limited the availability of some models. 
Looking forward, however, the apparent stabilization in the prices 
of oil and other commodities should ease the pressure on household 
budgets, and vehicle manufacturers report that they are making 
significant progress in overcoming the parts shortages and expect 
to increase production substantially this summer. 

In light of these developments, the most recent projections by 
members of the Federal Reserve Board and presidents of the Fed-
eral Reserve Banks, prepared in conjunction with the FOMC meet-
ing in late June, reflected their assessment that the pace of the 
economic recovery will pick up in coming quarters. Specifically, 
participants’ projections for the increase in real GDP have a central 
tendency of 2.7 to 2.9 percent in 2011, inclusive of the weak first 
half, and 3.3 to 3.7 percent in 2012—projections that, if realized, 
would constitute a notably better performance than we have seen 
so far this year. 

FOMC participants continued to see the economic recovery 
strengthening over the medium term, with the central tendency of 
their projections for the increase in real GDP picking up to 3.5 to 
4.2 percent in 2013. At the same time, the central tendencies of the 
projections of real GDP growth in 2011 and 2012 were marked 
down nearly one-half percentage point compared with those re-
ported in April, suggesting that FOMC participants saw at least 
some part of the first-half slowdown as persisting for a while. 
Among the headwinds facing the economy are the slow growth in 
consumer spending, even after accounting for the effects of higher 
food and energy prices; the continuing depressed condition of the 
housing sector; still-limited access to credit for some households 
and small businesses; and fiscal tightening at all levels of Govern-
ment. Consistent with projected growth in real output modestly 
above its trend rate, FOMC participants expected that, over time, 
the jobless rate will decline—albeit only slowly—toward its longer- 
term normal level. The central tendencies of participants’ forecasts 
for the unemployment rate were 8.6 to 8.9 percent for the fourth 
quarter of this year, 7.8 to 8.2 percent at the end of 2012, and 7 
to 7.5 percent at the end of 2013. 

The most recent data attest to the continuing weakness of the 
labor market: The unemployment rate increased to 9.2 percent in 
June, and gains in non-farm payroll employment were below expec-
tations for a second month. To date, of the more than 8.5 million 
jobs lost in the recession, 1.75 million have been regained. Of those 
employed, about 6 percent—8.6 million workers—report that they 
would like to be working full time but can only obtain part-time 
work. Importantly, nearly half of those currently unemployed have 
been out of work for more than 6 months, by far the highest ratio 
in the post-World War II period. Long-term unemployment imposes 
severe economic hardships on the unemployed and their families, 
and by leading to an erosion of skills of those without work, it both 
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impairs their lifetime employment prospects and reduces the pro-
ductive potential of our economy as a whole. 

Much of the slowdown in aggregate demand this year has been 
centered in the household sector, and the ability and willingness of 
consumers to spend will be an important determinant of the pace 
of the recovery in coming quarters. Real disposable personal income 
over the first 5 months of 2011 was boosted by the reduction in 
payroll taxes, but those gains were largely offset by higher prices 
for gasoline and other commodities. Households report that they 
have little confidence in the durability of the recovery and about 
their own income prospects. Moreover, the ongoing weakness in 
home values is holding down household wealth and weighing on 
consumer sentiment. On the positive side, household debt burdens 
are declining, delinquency rates on credit cards and auto loans are 
down significantly, and the number of homeowners missing a mort-
gage payment for the first time is decreasing. The anticipated 
pickups in economic activity and job creation, together with the ex-
pected easing of price pressures, should bolster real household in-
come, confidence, and spending in the medium run. 

Residential construction activity remains at an extremely low 
level. The demand for homes has been depressed by many of the 
same factors that have held down consumer spending more gen-
erally, including the slowness of the recovery in jobs and income as 
well as poor consumer sentiment. Mortgage interest rates are near 
record lows, but access to mortgage credit continues to be con-
strained. Also, many potential homebuyers remain concerned about 
buying into a falling market, as weak demand for homes, the sub-
stantial backlog of vacant properties for sale, and the high propor-
tion of distressed sales are keeping downward pressure on house 
prices. 

Two bright spots in the recovery have been exports and business 
investment in equipment and software. Demand for U.S.-made cap-
ital goods from both domestic and foreign firms has supported 
manufacturing production throughout the recovery thus far. Both 
equipment and software outlays and exports increased solidly in 
the first quarter, and the data on new orders received by U.S. pro-
ducers suggest that the trend continued in recent months. Cor-
porate profits have been strong, and larger nonfinancial corpora-
tions with access to capital markets have been able to refinance ex-
isting debt and lock in funding at lower yields. Borrowing condi-
tions for businesses generally have continued to ease, although, as 
mentioned, the availability of credit appears to remain relatively 
limited for some small firms. 

Inflation has picked up so far this year. The price index for per-
sonal consumption expenditures rose at an annual rate of more 
than 4 percent over the first 5 months of 2011 and 2.5 percent on 
a 12-month basis. Much of the acceleration was the result of higher 
prices for oil and other commodities and for imported goods. In ad-
dition, prices of motor vehicles increased sharply when supplies of 
new models were curtailed by parts shortages associated with the 
earthquake in Japan. Most of the recent rise in inflation appears 
likely to be transitory, and FOMC participants expected inflation 
to subside in coming quarters to rates at or below the level of 2 
percent or a bit less that participants view as consistent with our 
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dual mandate of maximum employment and price stability. The 
central tendency of participants’ forecasts for the rate of increase 
in the PCE price index was 2.3 to 2.5 percent for 2011 as a whole, 
which implies a significant slowing of inflation in the second half 
of the year. In 2012 and 2013, the central tendency of the inflation 
forecasts was 1.5 to 2.0 percent. Reasons to expect inflation to mod-
erate include the apparent stabilization in the prices of oil and 
other commodities, which is already showing through to retail gaso-
line and food prices; the still-substantial slack in U.S. labor and 
product markets, which has made it difficult for workers to obtain 
wage gains and for firms to pass through their higher costs; and 
the stability of longer-term inflation expectations, as measured by 
surveys of households, the forecasts of professional private sector 
economists, and financial market indicators. 

Turning to monetary policy, FOMC members’ judgments that the 
pace of the economic recovery over coming quarters will likely re-
main moderate, that the unemployment rate will consequently de-
cline only gradually, and that inflation will subside are the basis 
for the Committee’s decision to maintain a highly accommodative 
monetary policy. As you know, that policy currently consists of two 
parts. 

First, the target range for the Federal funds rate remains at 0 
to one-fourth percent and, as indicated in the statement released 
after the June meeting, the Committee expects that economic con-
ditions are likely to warrant exceptionally low levels of the Federal 
funds rate for an extended period. 

The second component of monetary policy has been to increase 
the Federal Reserve’s holdings of longer-term securities, an ap-
proach undertaken because the target for the Federal funds rate 
could not be lowered meaningfully further. The Federal Reserve’s 
acquisition of longer-term Treasury securities boosted the prices of 
such securities and caused longer-term Treasury yields to be lower 
than they would have been otherwise. In addition, by removing 
substantial quantities of longer-term Treasury securities from the 
market, the Fed’s purchases induced private investors to acquire 
other assets that serve as substitutes for Treasury securities in the 
financial marketplace, such as corporate bonds and mortgage- 
backed securities. By this means, the Fed’s asset purchase pro-
gram—like more conventional monetary policy—has served to re-
duce the yields and increase the prices of those other assets as 
well. The net result of these actions is lower borrowing costs and 
easier financial conditions throughout the economy. 

We know from many decades of experience with monetary policy 
that, when the economy is operating below its potential, easier fi-
nancial conditions tend to promote more rapid economic growth. 
Estimates based on a number of recent studies as well as Federal 
Reserve analyses suggest that, all else being equal, the second 
round of asset purchases probably lowered longer-term interest 
rates approximately 10 to 30 basis points. 

Our analysis further indicates that a reduction in longer-term in-
terest rates of this magnitude would be roughly equivalent in 
terms of its effects on the economy to a 40- to 120-basis-point re-
duction in the Federal funds rate. 
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In June, we completed the planned purchases of $600 billion in 
longer-term Treasury securities that the Committee initiated in 
November, while continuing to reinvest the proceeds of maturing or 
redeemed longer-term securities in Treasuries. Although we are no 
longer expanding our securities holdings, the evidence suggests 
that the degree of accommodation delivered by the Federal Re-
serve’s securities purchase program is determined primarily by the 
quantity and mix of securities that the Federal Reserve holds rath-
er than by the current pace of new purchases. Thus, even with the 
end of net new purchases, maintaining our holdings of these securi-
ties should continue to put downward pressure on market interest 
rates and foster more accommodative financial conditions than 
would otherwise be the case. It is worth emphasizing that our pro-
gram involved purchases of securities, not Government spending, 
and as I will discuss later, when the macroeconomic circumstances 
call for it, we will unwind those purchases. In the meantime, inter-
est on those securities is being remitted to the U.S. Treasury. 

When we began this program, we certainly did not expect it to 
be a panacea for the country’s economic problems. However, as the 
expansion weakened last summer, developments with respect to 
both components of our dual mandate implied that additional mon-
etary policy accommodation was needed. In that context, we be-
lieved that the program would both help reduce the risk of defla-
tion that had emerged and provide a needed boost to faltering eco-
nomic activity and job creation. The experience to date with the 
round of securities purchases that just ended suggests that the pro-
gram had the intended effects of reducing the risk of deflation and 
shoring up economic activity. In the months following the August 
announcement of our policy of reinvesting maturing and redeemed 
securities and our signal that we were considering more purchases, 
inflation compensation as measured in the market for inflation-in-
dexed securities rose from low to more normal levels, suggesting 
that the perceived risks of deflation had receded markedly. This 
was a significant achievement, as we know from the Japanese ex-
perience that protracted deflation can be quite costly in terms of 
weaker economic growth. 

With respect to employment, our expectations were relatively 
modest; estimates made in the autumn suggested that the addi-
tional purchases could boost employment by about 700,000 jobs 
over 2 years, or about 30,000 extra jobs per month. Even including 
the disappointing readings for May and June, which reflected in 
part the temporary factors I discussed earlier, private payroll gains 
have averaged 160,000 per month in the first half of 2011, com-
pared with average increases of only about 80,000 private jobs per 
month from May to August 2010. Not all of the step-up in hiring 
was necessarily the result of the asset purchase program, but the 
comparison is consistent with our expectations for employment 
gains. Of course, we will be monitoring developments in the labor 
market closely. 

Once the temporary shocks that have been holding down eco-
nomic activity pass, we expect to again see the effects of policy ac-
commodation reflected in stronger economic activity and job cre-
ation. However, given the range of uncertainties about the strength 
of the recovery and prospects for inflation over the medium term, 
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the Federal Reserve remains prepared to respond should economic 
developments indicate that an adjustment in the stance of mone-
tary policy would be appropriate. 

On the one hand, the possibility remains that the recent eco-
nomic weakness may prove more persistent than expected and that 
deflationary risks might re-emerge, implying a need for additional 
policy support. Even with the Federal funds rate close to zero, we 
have a number of ways in which we could act to ease financial con-
ditions further. One option would be to provide more explicit guid-
ance about the period over which the Federal funds rate and the 
balance sheet would remain at their current levels. Another ap-
proach would be to initiate more securities purchases or to increase 
the average maturity of our holdings. The Federal Reserve could 
also reduce the 25-basis-point rate of interest it pays to banks on 
their reserves, thereby putting downward pressure on short-term 
rates more generally. Of course, our experience with these policies 
remains relatively limited, and employing them would entail poten-
tial risks and costs. However, prudent planning requires that we 
evaluate the efficacy of these and other potential alternatives for 
deploying additional stimulus if conditions warrant. 

On the other hand, the economy could evolve in a way that 
would warrant a move toward less accommodative policy. Accord-
ingly, the Committee has been giving careful consideration to the 
elements of its exit strategy, and as reported in the minutes of the 
June FOMC meeting, it has reached a broad consensus about the 
sequence of steps that it expects to follow when the normalization 
of policy becomes appropriate. In brief, when economic conditions 
warrant, the Committee would begin the normalization process by 
ceasing the reinvestment of principal payments on its securities, 
thereby allowing the Federal Reserve’s balance sheet to begin 
shrinking. At the same time or sometime thereafter, the Committee 
would modify the forward guidance in its statement. Subsequent 
steps would include the initiation of temporary reserve-draining op-
erations and, when conditions warrant, increases in the Federal 
funds rate target. From that point on, changing the level or range 
of the Federal funds rate target would be our primary means of ad-
justing the stance of monetary policy in response to economic devel-
opments. 

Sometime after the first increase in the Federal funds rate tar-
get, the Committee expects to initiate sales of agency securities 
from its portfolio, with the timing and pace of sales clearly commu-
nicated to the public in advance. Once sales begin, the pace of sales 
is anticipated to be relatively gradual and steady, but it could be 
adjusted up or down in response to material changes in the eco-
nomic outlook or financial conditions. Over time, the securities 
portfolio and the associated quantity of bank reserves are expected 
to be reduced to the minimum levels consistent with the efficient 
implementation of monetary policy. Of course, conditions can 
change, and in choosing the time to begin policy normalization as 
well as the pace of that process, should that be the next direction 
for policy, we would carefully consider both parts of our dual man-
date. 

Thank you, and I would be pleased to take your questions. 



9 

Chairman JOHNSON. Thank you for your testimony. We will now 
begin the questioning of our witness. Will the Clerk please put 5 
minutes on the clock for each Member for their questions. 

The Fed, to its great credit, has pursued policies to stimulate the 
economy. However, although the Fed continues to hold short-term 
interest rates near zero, it has ended efforts to reduce longer-term 
rates through quantitative easing. Given the high rate of unem-
ployment and relatively slow growth in output, why not start a new 
round of easing, a QE3? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, Mr. Chairman, first, as you point out, our 
policies are already very highly accommodative. We have almost 
zero interest rates. And the stock of assets that we have acquired, 
which Mr. Shelby talked about, continue to put downward pressure 
on interest rates in the markets, even if we are not buying new as-
sets going forward. 

I think the important point to make is that the situation today 
is somewhat different than it was in August of 2010, when we 
began to initiate discussion of further purchases of securities. At 
that time, inflation was dropping. Inflation expectations were drop-
ping. It looked like deflation was becoming a potential risk to the 
economy, and a serious risk. At the same time, over the summer, 
the recovery looked like it was stalling. We were down to 80,000 
jobs a month, private sector jobs a month. Growth was not suffi-
cient to prevent what looked like a potentially significant increase 
in the unemployment rate, and so we felt that with both unemploy-
ment and inflation being missed in the same direction, so to speak, 
that monetary policy accommodation was surely needed and so we 
undertook that step. 

Today, the situation is more complex. Inflation is higher. Infla-
tion expectations are close to our target. We are uncertain about 
the near-term developments in the economy. We would like to see 
if the economy does pick up as we are projecting. And so we are 
not prepared at this point to take further action. 

Chairman JOHNSON. In your testimony, you note that fiscal tight-
ening at all levels of Government is one of the headwinds facing 
the economic recovery. Can you explain whether this means that 
additional short-term fiscal expansion could help us return to full 
employment and increase overall confidence in the economy. 

Mr. BERNANKE. Mr. Chairman, I think our fiscal planning and 
policy needs to be integrated in the sense that we have to be look-
ing at both the short run and the long run at the same time. The 
Congress and the Administration are currently looking to make 
major changes in our spending, deficit projections over the next 
decade or so. I think that is extremely important, that we bring 
down our deficit so we will have a sustainable fiscal policy going 
forward, and I want to emphasize that that is very important. 

At the same time, that process is a long-term process. It is some-
thing that needs to take place over a number of years. And I only 
ask or suggest that as Congress looks at the timing and composi-
tion of its changes to the budget that it does take into account that 
in the very near term that the recovery is still rather fragile and 
that sharp and excessive cuts in the very short term would be po-
tentially damaging to that recovery. 
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It is up to Congress what further actions to take. I guess I could 
suggest that there is intermediate steps between fiscal stimulus 
and cuts, and that would be some focused programs addressing 
some of the areas in the economy which are particularly stressed, 
like unemployment or housing. 

Chairman JOHNSON. As you acknowledge in your testimony, the 
U.S. housing market is stubbornly depressed. Residential invest-
ment is more than a third below its 1997 level. The inventory of 
homes that are vacant and for sale remains elevated. Do you see 
policy solutions that would help resolve the problems in the hous-
ing market? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, Mr. Chairman, you are absolutely right 
that the weakness in the housing market is one of the major 
sources of the slow recovery. Normally, in an expansion, you would 
see the housing market strengthening and adding jobs and creating 
new opportunities. We are not seeing that, in part because, as you 
mentioned, the big overhang of distress sales, open, vacant homes, 
foreclosed homes which are weighing on prices and creating a vi-
cious circle, where people do not want to buy because prices are 
falling, and prices are falling because people do not want to buy. 

There are a number of things that we are doing. The Fed is keep-
ing mortgage rates low. There is work to try to modify mortgages. 
I think it is worth looking at that area, though. One area where 
clearly more work needs to be done is in housing finance. You 
know, we have not yet begun to really clarify for the market and 
the public how housing finance will be conducted in the future. 

Another area where I just suggest that you might think about is 
the overhang of distressed houses. For example, Fannie, Freddie, 
and the banks own about half-a-million homes right now which are 
basically sitting there on the market and which are pressing down 
prices and reducing appraisals and making the housing market 
just much weaker than it otherwise would be. So that is another 
area to look at. I mean, there are various things that one could do 
to approach that, but I agree with you that the housing market is 
really, in some sense, the epicenter of the problem we have at the 
moment. 

Chairman JOHNSON. As yet, there has been no agreement on 
raising the Federal debt limit. What would be the effects on finan-
cial markets and the real economy if the Treasury were forced to 
default on these obligations? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, Mr. Chairman, as I have said on a number 
of occasions, I think it would be a calamitous outcome. It would 
create a very severe financial shock that would have effects not 
only to the U.S. economy, but on the global economy. Treasury se-
curities are critical to the entire financial system. They are used 
in many different ways as collateral or as margin. Default on those 
securities would throw the financial system into chaos, and what 
would certainly be the case is that we would destroy the trust and 
confidence that global investors have in U.S. Treasury securities as 
being the safest and most liquid assets in the world. We are al-
ready seeing threats of downgrades from rating agencies. 

This is a tremendous asset of the United States, the quality and 
reputation of our Treasury securities, and we benefit from it with 
low interest rates. So I would urge Congress to take every step pos-
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sible to avoid defaulting on the debt or creating even any signifi-
cant probability of defaulting on the debt. 

Chairman JOHNSON. Senator Shelby. 
Senator SHELBY. Thank you. 
Mr. Chairman, tell us here today, and, of course, you are speak-

ing to the American people, why our economy is not moving, our 
jobs are not growing, unemployment is going in the wrong direc-
tion, what, 9.2 official unemployment right now. If you bring in, ac-
cording to the Labor Department, if you bring in people who have 
quit looking for a job, it is about 16 percent. That is very, very 
high. I think it does not bode well for the future for all of us. But 
why, why is all of this? Is it just the housing bubble, which is se-
vere? Is it the housing bubble and reckless lending that put a lot 
of our banks in jeopardy? Tell us what it all is and how do we get 
out of it? Is it reckless spending? All of this. 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, Senator, you have almost answered your 
question. 

Senator SHELBY. Mm-hmm. Not as well as you could, probably. 
Mr. BERNANKE. Well, first, let me say that, as I mentioned in my 

testimony, we do think that the weakness of the first half of this 
year is, in part, due to temporary factors, and I talked about the 
disaster in Japan and the developments in the Middle East and so 
on, and we do think we will see somewhat better growth, although 
forecasting is very difficult, going forward. 

But that being said, it has been a very slow recovery and there 
are a number of reasons for that. One is the aftermath of the hous-
ing bubble. With so many houses empty and prices having fallen 
so much, that has created almost new construction in housing. It 
means that people have lost wealth because they no longer have 
any equity in their home. So that has been a major factor. 

Second is that we know from a lot of research that recoveries 
after financial crises can be slow because it takes time for the cred-
it system to become operative again. And while I think there has 
been a lot of improvement in the banking system, there are still 
some areas, like consumer and small business lending, which are 
constrained to some extent. 

The consumer has been very cautious, trying to build back up 
their wealth, concerned about the durability of the recovery, wor-
ried about their own financial prospects. So even though the high 
price of gasoline and food has taken away some purchasing power, 
as I mentioned, confidence is pretty low and consumers are not 
showing the confidence in terms of spending. 

And then I did mention that there is, in the near term, with-
drawal of fiscal stimulus, tightening. For example, the job numbers 
last Friday, the private numbers were certainly better than the 
headline numbers because part of this report was the loss of 40,000 
State and local jobs as those governments are being forced to con-
tract. Now, of course, over time it is perfectly possible to want to 
change the composition of public and private employment. That is 
perfectly understandable. But in the short run, as jobs are lost and 
they are not replaced elsewhere, it creates pressure on the econ-
omy. 
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Senator SHELBY. Are you basically telling us we are not going to 
have a robust recovery, not in the next 6 months, 8 months, 10 
months, are we? 

Mr. BERNANKE. We are expecting improvement, but we are not 
expecting—— 

Senator SHELBY. Nothing—— 
Mr. BERNANKE.——something like would normally follow a deep 

recession in previous episodes. 
Senator SHELBY. Let us talk about the European crisis for a 

minute. We are all familiar with this to some extent, Greece, Por-
tugal, Ireland, perhaps Italy and others. It seems to me that they 
are sitting on a financial-related time bomb over there. Do you be-
lieve that the European Union, Monetary Union, will stay to-
gether? Can it stay together with some smaller countries’ fragile 
economies that will basically never pay their debt back, cannot pay 
it back, or what will happen? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well—— 
Senator SHELBY. And how will it impact us, because we will 

be—— 
Mr. BERNANKE.——let me just say that the European leadership 

places a great value on maintaining the Euro area and in main-
taining the European political integration which has taken place in 
the post-war period, and I know they are making extraordinary ef-
forts to address these problems. 

The problems are not entirely economic because the three coun-
tries that you mentioned are really a very small part of the Euro-
pean continent and the European economy. So the questions are at 
least as much political, and they involve how are you going to ad-
dress these problems in these countries. 

One approach is to try to do it completely through austerity, to 
have the countries just cut and cut and see if they can make it 
with a little bit of temporary assistance. Another strategy would be 
to get more direct assistance from other countries, but that is a 
very unpopular strategy in some of the countries that would be ex-
pected to pay—— 

Senator SHELBY. But that is not a solution to their problem, 
though—— 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, if the better-off countries were to basically 
help solve the problems of the small countries, it would solve their 
immediate issue and then there would need to be austerity, fiscal 
reforms, structural reforms, and so on to make sure the countries 
stay on a healthier path in the future. So there are different ways 
to approach it, and again, I think it is really a political issue as 
much as an economic issue. 

It is causing a good bit of anxiety in markets, and that has been 
affecting our economy both last summer and now recently, as well. 
We are spending a lot of time evaluating the exposures of U.S. fi-
nancial institutions to these countries, including money market 
mutual funds and so on. The direct exposures to the three coun-
tries you mentioned are quite small and manageable. So we would 
not expect those direct impacts to be the critical channel if there 
were problems; a default, for example. 

But I think that, nevertheless, the U.S. economy is at risk from 
those developments because were there to be a significant deterio-
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ration in conditions in Europe, we would see a general increase in 
risk aversion, declining asset prices, a lot of volatility in markets, 
and we would suffer from that more general financial situation 
than we would from the direct exposures to those sovereign coun-
tries. 

Senator SHELBY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Chairman JOHNSON. Senator Reed. 
Senator REED. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. Chairman, following up on Senator Johnson’s question, 

which was about a default on our outstanding obligations of the 
Federal Government, some have suggested that if we cannot re-
solve the debt ceiling limit, we simply prioritize payments. We pre-
sumably pay on some Treasuries as long as we can, pay some prin-
cipal, some interest. That, of course, requires us to not pay on 
things like military pay and Social Security. 

But just in the context of the financial sector, would that fix the 
problem, simply not having the debt limit extended and trying to 
pay as long as we can on our securities? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, Senator Reed, first of all, it is the Treas-
ury’s area to determine how they are going to manage this. They 
have been very clear that they do not think it is either appropriate 
or feasible to prioritize. And as the fiscal agent, the Federal Re-
serve simply does what they tell us to do, and I think there are 
some operational issues that arise if you were to try to do it. But 
again, the Treasury is the determinant of this and they are pretty 
clear that they do not think that is a workable solution. 

That being said, whether the default is on securities or it is on 
payments we owe to Medicare recipients, it is going to constitute 
a default of some type on obligations incurred by the U.S. Govern-
ment. It will certainly have an impact on both the economy, but 
also on confidence. You know, what inference should investors take 
from the fact that the United States is not paying its bills and that 
it cannot resolve this issue? 

So I think that there is not really any solution other than to find 
a way to solve these problems, to address the fiscal issues, and 
to—— 

Senator REED. Pass the debt limit. 
Mr. BERNANKE.——raise the debt limit at the appropriate time. 
Senator REED. Let me just explore a little bit. Moody’s today and 

Standard and Poor’s have suggested that they are putting us on a 
watch, downgrading, and what clearly is behind them is that if we 
do not pass the debt limit ceiling raise, then they will downgrade 
us, not only U.S. Treasuries, but Moody’s has indicated Fannie Mae 
paper, Freddie Mac paper, Federal Credit Bureau paper. We have 
also placed for possible downgrade securities either guaranteed by, 
backed by, collateral securities issued by, or otherwise directly 
linked to the U.S. Government. So, essentially, they are going to 
downgrade things we do not even know yet—maybe you know. 

What does this do in terms of interest rates across the board, 
likely raise them, even in a, quote, ‘‘technical’’ default? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, the combination of downgrades and loss of 
investor confidence could potentially raise interest rates quite sig-
nificantly. And the ironic aspect of that is what we are all inter-
ested in doing is reducing the deficit. If you raise interest rates, 
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that means your interest costs go up substantially and you are ac-
tually making—you are regressing rather than progressing in 
terms of—— 

Senator REED. So a failure to raise the debt ceiling would be 
probably the most significant and immediate increase in the deficit 
that we are likely to see, the one act that would dramatically in-
crease the deficit? 

Mr. BERNANKE. It would be a self-inflicted wound, I would say. 
Senator REED. Let me ask about something else, too, and that 

is—because you have talked about the fiscal crisis, but also a jobs 
crisis. What is your presumption into this scenario about jobs? Are 
we likely to see people eagerly going out and hiring under this situ-
ation of technical or real default? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, we have a recent example. In 2008, when 
the financial system froze up and we saw an immediate, very sharp 
contraction of the global economy. Even if things did not get that 
bad, and one of the key issues here is it is very hard to predict ex-
actly what is going to happen, but if interest rates rise, that is 
clearly going to reduce investment. Uncertainty will arise. That 
will reduce the willingness of firms to hire and invest. So if the 
Government is reducing its payments by 40 percent, that is going 
to have an impact, as well. 

Senator REED. Right. 
Mr. BERNANKE. So I can only conclude that this would be very 

bad for jobs. 
Senator REED. Let me ask you another area which we discovered 

much to our chagrin was a huge and explosive problem. That is the 
situation of derivatives. I would presume that there area a lot of 
credit default swaps written on many of these securities, et cetera, 
and that if they are downgraded, that could be a condition of de-
fault. That could require additional collateral. Do you have any 
idea on the institutions that you regulate the potential exposure 
they would have as credit ratings fall or as there is a default in 
the market? Is it in the trillions? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, there are many knock-on effects from a de-
fault, ranging throughout the entire system. But CDS directly on 
Treasuries as opposed to on other securities are actually not that 
big, and it would take an action of the ISDA to invoke the credit 
event. So that could be a problem for some institutions, but it 
would not be the biggest problem among all the things that we 
have been discussing. 

Senator REED. But your point, which I want to reiterate, is that 
this could be a self-inflicted wound doing more damage to the def-
icit than has been done to date. 

Mr. BERNANKE. It is really not an option that we want—we 
should be considering. 

Senator REED. Thank you. 
Chairman JOHNSON. Senator Toomey. 
Senator TOOMEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and I am going to 

follow up on this for just a moment, but then I want to move on 
to some other issues, and that is to make the observation that the 
market proceeds, and, in fact, the consequences are starkly dif-
ferent between, on the one hand, the U.S. Government failing to 
make an interest payment on a bond, or on the other hand, fur-
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loughing some Government workers or delaying a reimbursement 
to a vendor or failing to cut the grass at the monument. These are 
very, very different events. 

The month of August has scheduled about $30 billion of interest 
payments. The Treasury is sitting on a $94 billion portfolio of mort-
gage-backed securities and we expect a minimum of $125 billion in 
tax revenue. Now, I do not know of anybody that suggests that we 
can or should go indefinitely without raising the debt ceiling, and 
I have argued that we certainly would be much better off reaching 
an agreement and raising the debt ceiling prior to August 2. But 
there is a big, big difference between a payment default on our debt 
and the other kinds of payment disruptions. 

I think this Administration would be wise to send an unambig-
uous message to the market that under no circumstances would 
they tolerate a default on our debt which is entirely under their 
control to prevent. But I acknowledge that that is the realm of the 
Treasury and that is not your responsibility. 

What I would like to address is what is under your realm, and 
I have said, Mr. Chairman, and I fully acknowledge that the things 
that you have done under very difficult circumstances have only 
had the best motivation, but I am concerned about the expansion 
in power of the central bank that we have, the unusual steps that 
we have taken, the enormous discretion that the Fed now has and 
exercises. My concern is that this distorts markets, intentionally, 
actually. It also introduces enormous uncertainty as to how the Fed 
will behave. The Fed becomes the biggest player in driving the 
bond market, the equity markets, and that this is a dangerous 
place that we have come to, and I hope that we revert as soon as 
possible to the more normal role that the Fed has played. 

One of the unintended, I suspect, if not unforseen consequences 
of this unusual policy, it seems to me, if we take the very, very low 
interest rates, the zero, or roughly zero percent Fed funds rate, the 
negative real interest rates the Fed has maintained for an ex-
tended period now, it seems to me that this contributes to enabling 
Congress to run excessive deficits. You know, our debt is cheap to 
finance, especially when compounded by the fact that the Treasury 
has chosen to shorten up the maturity—I think unwisely. The net 
effect is we are not yet paying the price, the real market price that 
we will certainly eventually have to pay for these massive deficits 
and this huge debt. I do not think for a minute that that is your 
intention, to facilitate this fiscal irresponsibility, but I think it is 
the unintended consequence of these extremely low interest rates, 
as just one example. 

But to your testimony, you have raised the possibility now that 
if economic circumstances warranted, you would consider—you 
have opened the door to an additional round of securities pur-
chases, so what will no doubt be dubbed QE3. And I guess my con-
cern is that what is wrong with this economy is not fundamentally 
monetary policy. It is other things. 

And so I would just ask you to comment on what you see that 
is wrong with our economy that QE3 would fix. What is the theory 
that another round of security purchases will somehow generate 
the economic growth that we lack? 
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Mr. BERNANKE. Well, first, to go back to the facilitation issue, 
our goal is to try to meet our mandate of maximum employment 
and price stability, which is why we run monetary policy as we do. 
I do not think that our policy would prevent a loss of confidence 
if creditors lost confidence in the Treasury, which would drive up 
interest rates. It has not happened yet, and I do not think it is be-
cause of us. I think it is because people still think that they have 
confidence in our Government’s ability to make its payments. 

These asset purchases, in terms of their effects on the economy, 
they work more or less in the same way that ordinary monetary 
policy works, by easing financial conditions, lowering interest rates, 
and providing stimulus through that mechanism. 

Now, you may be entirely correct, A, that it might not be needed, 
and B, that it might not be particularly effective given the configu-
ration of problems that we have, if credit is not being extended, or 
if the problems really arise from other sectors that are not respon-
sive to interest rates. So those are certainly things we will take 
into account, Senator. We are not proposing anything today. 

The main message I want to leave is that this is a serious situa-
tion. It involves a significant loss of human and economic potential. 
The Federal Reserve has a mandate and we want to meet that 
mandate, and to do that, we just want to make sure that we have 
the options when they become necessary. But at this point, we are 
not proposing to undertake that option. 

Senator TOOMEY. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Chairman JOHNSON. Senator Akaka. 
Senator AKAKA. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. 
Good morning, Chairman Bernanke. 
Mr. BERNANKE. Good morning, Senator. 
Senator AKAKA. I appreciate your joining us today again. Before 

I begin, I want to thank you very much for your strong leadership. 
You continue to do an excellent job under very difficult cir-
cumstances. 

Chairman Bernanke, we all understand the importance of pre-
venting a Government default. Many Americans, however, seem 
not to share this urgency. A Gallup poll in May found that only 19 
percent of Americans would want their Member of Congress to vote 
for a debt ceiling increase, and 34 percent did not even know 
enough about the issue to answer the question. Another poll in 
July by Pew and Washington Post showed that Americans are 
more concerned about controlling spending than they are about a 
Government default. 

Chairman Bernanke, will you please explain specifically how a 
Government default would affect the everyday lives of working- 
class Americans. 

Mr. BERNANKE. Yes, Senator, I would be glad to. First, an anal-
ogy I made yesterday, some people make the analogy that this is 
all about sitting down at the kitchen table, making sure that your 
income and your spending are equal. That is true for the long run, 
but the debt ceiling is really about paying for bills that we have 
already incurred. So it is more like saying we are going to solve our 
problems by defaulting on our credit card, which is not something 
that most people would consider would be the right way to behave. 
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But putting that aside, not increasing the debt ceiling and cer-
tainly allowing default on the debt would have very real con-
sequences for average Americans. First, interest rates would jump. 
Treasury rates are the benchmark interest rates, so mortgage rates 
and all other interest rates that consumers pay would rise. Of 
course, that would also increase the Federal deficit because we 
have to pay the interest on the debt as part of our spending. 

If the Treasury cut back as it would be required to do because 
it could not borrow, it would mean that there would be a signifi-
cant reduction in both the payments, the benefits, payments for 
services paid to the Armed Forces and so on, so people would see 
that in terms of their Medicare check or whatever other benefits 
they are getting. 

And then without much delay, I think this would also slow the 
economy, and so the job situation would get worse. So in almost 
every area where people have pocketbook concerns—jobs, interest 
rates, credit, availability of Government payments, benefits, all 
those things would be affected in relatively short order. 

Senator AKAKA. Well, thank you for briefly explaining all of that. 
Chairman Bernanke, even though home prices, and it has been 

mentioned, have only slightly declined, high-cost housing areas like 
Hawaii are still feeling the full effects of a weak housing market. 
Mortgage credit is still limited. Concern for the future is that bank 
retained mortgages are performing worse than those sold to or 
backed by the Government and yet the loan limits are scheduled 
to step down later this year. 

Do you think it is a good idea to allow the loan limits to de-
crease? How might loan limits affect the housing market and 
homeownership opportunities? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, there is a tradeoff, as always, Senator. The 
increase in the loan limits was made on an emergency basis, obvi-
ously, to try to address the housing crisis. The GSEs are making 
the determination that it is time to begin to wean a little bit the 
mortgage market from those higher conforming limits. 

I think the question in terms of the effect on the housing market 
is to what extent are non-conforming jumbo mortgages available 
and how are they priced in Hawaii, and I do not know specific facts 
for Hawaii. But, nationally, there has been some improvement in 
the willingness of banks to make jumbo loans, and the differential, 
which at one point was more than 100 basis points, I think is much 
closer to 25 to 35 basis points at this point. 

So that will impose some extra costs on borrowers in very large 
mortgages, but I do not think in most cases that they will be 
squeezed out of the market. So they are some of the tradeoffs that 
the GSEs and the Congress are looking at. 

Senator AKAKA. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Chairman JOHNSON. Senator Kirk. 
Senator KIRK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. Chairman, I have three quick issues I want to raise with 

you, and I will put them all on the table. 
First, my understanding is that, according to Terry Zivney and 

Richard Marcus in Federal Review, August 1989, we had a tech-
nical default of the United States April 26, May 3, and May 10, 
1979, when the United States could not pay individual bond hold-
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ers holding Treasuries on time, and my understanding is it was 
about a 60-basis-point rise in borrowing costs to the Federal Gov-
ernment. If you could talk about when we defaulted last time, 
1979. 

Second, I understand that Italy just tried to borrow money twice 
today. Their 5-year benchmark had a 21-percent increase in the 
cost of borrowing over last year, just went out at 4.9 percent, up 
from 3.9 percent a year ago. And they set a record on their 15-year 
borrowing. They paid the highest interest rate ever at 5.9 percent. 
And we are seeing a real M1 decline in Italy, and my question is: 
Should we have a kind of Greek-style bailout for Spain and Italy? 
The Congressional Research Service estimates that the IMF is $50 
billion short. 

And, last, I am worried about the long-term finances of especially 
my home State of Illinois and California, and given their pension 
liabilities, Illinois being the lowest-paid pensions in the United 
States, do you see a systemic risk posed by these two States to the 
municipal finance and bond sector for the United States? 

I lay all three of those issues out for your comment. 
Mr. BERNANKE. Sure. Thank you. It is true that in 1979, mostly 

because of mechanical problems, operational problems, there were 
a few Treasury bills that did not receive interest payments on time. 
Interest rates did go up there, but it is not entirely clear whether 
it was entirely due to the default or whether it was due to some 
other factors, like changes in expectations of monetary policy, for 
example. 

I do not think it is really comparable to the current situation be-
cause this was just a couple of isolated issues, and, in fact, the 
Wall Street Journal did not even report that this had happened. 
People did not generally know that this had happened. So it was 
not viewed as something that was a broad-based risk to the finan-
cial markets. 

On Italy, it is true there has been a bit of market jitters there, 
and the kind of concern you worry about is exactly this kind of vi-
cious circle that we are worried about in the case of the United 
States, where loss of confidence raises interest rates, that makes 
the deficit worse, and it makes it just even more difficult to get fis-
cal stability. 

My sense of Italy is that certainly the first line of defense is for 
Italy to take the necessary steps. It is true that Italy has a very 
high debt-to-GDP ratio, but it has some strengths. Notably, it cur-
rently has a primary surplus, that is, excluding interest, it actually 
has a small surplus, so its fiscal position in terms of the current 
deficit is much better than Greece, for example. Its banks are in 
decent shape. They have taken some extra capital in recently. It 
has got a well-diversified, manufacturing-based economy. So there 
are a lot of strengths that it has, so I think the first line of defense, 
perhaps with some assistance or commitments from the Europeans, 
would be for Italy to try to address the concerns that the markets 
have. 

In terms of explicit debt, States do not generally have the same 
kinds of levels of debt that our U.S. Federal Government or Euro-
pean governments have, and they rely on Federal money for Social 
Security, for medical care, and other things. So there are some 
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States—Illinois, California, as you mentioned—that are having 
more difficulty. We watch those very carefully. We also look at the 
exposures of banks and other institutions to those States. We do 
not see any immediate risk there, but it is true that a number of 
States do need to be thinking about their longer-term sustain-
ability given the unfunded liabilities they may have for State pen-
sions and for in some cases the health care programs as well. But 
we are monitoring that situation, but we do not think it is really 
analogous to the European situation. 

Senator KIRK. I have got 13 seconds to go. What about the ade-
quacy of the IMF should we face a Spanish and Italian contin-
gency? Are you concerned that at Greek bailout levels we would 
run about $50 billion short? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Spain and Italy are much bigger economies than 
the three that have already been addressed, and if it came to that 
point, I want to be very clear that I do not anticipate that hap-
pening. But if it came to that point, I think the Europeans would 
have to make a very substantial contribution to stabilize those 
countries. 

Senator KIRK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Chairman JOHNSON. Senator Kohl. 
Senator KOHL. Thank you very much, Mr. Chairman. 
Nice to have you with us this morning, Mr. Bernanke. I would 

like to ask you about our job situation and our recovery and their 
interrelationship. We have a jobless recovery by many people’s esti-
mate. Even as the economy seems to be getting better and profits 
in corporations are stronger, hiring has not been what we want it 
to be, and, of course, wages are not what we want them to be. The 
wage picture in particular is disturbing because average wages in 
this country, family income has not moved in many years. And as 
companies continue to progress and not hire, what we are finding 
is that they are able to do business at a higher level with the same 
number of employees, in some cases even fewer employees. 

So I am asking myself, How do we turn this around? And when 
is this going to get turned around? Back in other times, there was 
a much more direct correlation between economic activity, rising 
profits and growth, and hiring and wages. We do not seem to have 
that connection today. 

I would like you to comment on that and what that portends for 
us even as business gets better. 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, I can only agree with your diagnosis. We 
have high unemployment. It is improving very, very slowly in 
terms of jobs regained. We have the potential for very long run con-
sequences because of the long-term unemployed. Those folks are 
going to find it much harder to find new work or find work that 
was comparable to the work they had before. Wages are very stag-
nant, and that is affecting consumer spending and consumer con-
fidence. So I agree absolutely this is a major problem. 

There has been a tendency in the last 20 years or so for recov-
eries to be more jobless in the early post-war period. We saw the 
same thing in the 1990s and the beginning of the last decade. 
There is a little bit of an irony here, which is that, generally speak-
ing, productivity gains are a really good thing and that helps make 
the country rich over time. But over very short periods in this cri-
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sis, a lot of firms got very scared. They reduced their labor forces, 
and they tried to find ways to produce the same output without as 
many workers, and in doing so they increased productivity remark-
ably. But given the low level of demand, that means that their de-
mand for workers is not as strong as we would like. 

There is also ongoing uncertainty about the durability of the re-
covery and about the economic environment, including fiscal issues, 
as we have been talking about. So if I had the answer, I would give 
it to you. The Federal Reserve has been providing as much accom-
modative support as we can to meet our dual mandate. I do think 
it would be worth Congress looking at some specific issues related 
to the unemployed. I am concerned about the long-run implications 
of the long-term unemployment. Are there things that the Congress 
could do to help people improve their skills or to find new opportu-
nities? I think those are questions that should be asked. 

Senator KOHL. And it is also very troubling, isn’t it, that family 
wages have just stagnated, not just for the last year or two but for 
the last decade or longer. And unless we can find a way to turn 
that around, we are looking at a troubling future, to say the least. 
After all, the economy is driven by consumer demand, and if wages 
are not increasing in spite of a stronger economy, let alone employ-
ment, if wages are not increasing, we are facing a very troubling 
future. Wouldn’t you say that? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Yes, and it is a long-run trend. It is a 30-year 
trend. 

Senator KOHL. Right. 
Mr. BERNANKE. And one part of it is skills and preparation. We 

have a globalized, highly technological society, and those people 
who are prepared for it can do very well, but it used to be if you 
had a high school education, you were prepared to get a decent job, 
but now that is not nearly the case. 

Senator KOHL. Right. 
Mr. BERNANKE. So we are going to have to address those edu-

cation deficits and help people get the skills. 
Senator KOHL. Can I ask just one more question? 
Mr. BERNANKE. Sure. 
Senator KOHL. Consolidation of the banking industry is not new, 

but it is certainly something that I am thinking about at this time 
because last week, after 164 years in Wisconsin, the M&I Bank 
was bought out by Harris Bank, a subsidiary of the Bank of Mon-
treal. M&I was Wisconsin’s largest and oldest banks, and now it 
has been purchased, as I said, by a national bank. 

One concern I have with larger national banks moving into Wis-
consin is what impact that will have on local customers, small busi-
nesses, and farmers. We have seen evidence that mergers of small-
er banks can be good for small business, but when a large national 
bank buys smaller banks, small business loans tend to decrease. 
That is the statistic. 

As more national banks acquire regional and community banks, 
what can we do to see to it that they keep lending to small busi-
nesses? Is the Federal Reserve looking at the impacts of consolida-
tion on lending to small business and farmers? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Yes, Senator, we are. We and the Department of 
Justice are typically involved in approving mergers and acquisi-
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tions, and when we do that, one of the key exercises we do is we 
look at the resulting concentration of banking services within the 
local area, within a city, within a county. And we want to be sure, 
when taking into account all the banking services, thrifts, and oth-
ers that are in that area, that any merger or acquisition does not 
create a situation where one firm dominates that market. And so 
we do pay a lot of attention to making sure that there is competi-
tion, that consumers and businesses have alternatives to go to 
within their local market when we approve those mergers. 

It is true that larger banks, particularly recently, have been not 
as forthcoming with small business as some local banks, commu-
nity banks have been. And we see a lot of advantage in community 
banks, and we are very supportive of community banks. We have 
a subcommittee in our supervisory function which looks entirely at 
the implications of new rules and regulations for smaller banks and 
tries to do whatever we can to minimize the burden on those 
banks. We would like to see a healthy community banking system, 
and we are going to do our best to support that goal. 

Senator KOHL. Thank you very much. 
Chairman JOHNSON. Senator Johanns. 
Senator JOHANNS. Mr. Chairman, good to see you again. 
Mr. Chairman, as we have been working through the challenges 

of the debt ceiling and August 2nd—and maybe August 2nd is actu-
ally August 3rd or August 4th—I have been trying to do as deep 
a dive as I can to understand the cash-flow and the financial re-
quirements of the U.S. Government. And so I am hoping I can use 
my 5 minutes to offer hopefully some insight on that, but I would 
like your reaction to a couple of things that I think I have identi-
fied here that are enormously important. 

The first thing, I looked at the indebtedness of the United States, 
the Treasuries, the Treasuries we issue, and on August 4th, we 
need to roll over $90.8 billion; August 11th, $93.3 billion; August 
15th, $26.6 billion; August 18th, $87 billion; August 25th, $112 bil-
lion; and August 31st, $60.8 billion. 

Let us say that, for whatever reason, there is no solution to this 
raising the debt ceiling issue through August and we are con-
stantly in the market, as you know, trying to deal with the Treas-
ury situation. We have got these that we have to roll over. What 
is the market reaction going to be just in terms of this? It just 
seems to me that if I were a big trader in Treasuries, I would want 
a better deal. I would want more interest. I would want something 
from the U.S. Government, because all of a sudden there is an ele-
ment of political risk that has been injected that maybe there will 
not be enough consensus to deal with this. 

What is your reaction to that? 
Mr. BERNANKE. Senator, you are absolutely right. We know what 

our interest payments are going to be, but we have to roll over 
large amounts of Treasuries, and it could be that if investors de-
mand higher interest rates, that means basically that we will be 
short, that the price that will be paid will be less than we need to 
borrow, so that is another source of uncertainty in terms of what 
we are going to owe from the coffers of the Treasury. 

So, yes, I think that it is very uncertain, and we are seeing al-
ready the downgrade threats and so on. But it is entirely possible 
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that a loss of confidence or political risk could raise interest rates 
and would effectively make it more difficult or at least more expen-
sive to roll over the debt going forward. 

Senator JOHANNS. Now, in terms of that rollover, my under-
standing is we cannot avoid that without really severe con-
sequences. In other words, as these dates come up, we have got to 
deal with it. Is that a correct assumption, or are there alternatives 
I do not know about? 

Mr. BERNANKE. When the principal comes up, we have to roll it 
over or sell other bonds to meet that amount. 

Senator JOHANNS. OK. Now, the next piece of this—and, gosh, 
there was so much discussion out there about whether Treasury 
could do this and Social Security recipients will, in fact, get paid 
or whatever the latest point is. But I was looking at an analysis 
that was done, again, for August, and it anticipates revenues of 
$172.4 billion. I admit there could be some give and take on that. 
Outflows—in other words, requirements for money—of 
$306,713,000,000. So obviously we know we are borrowing 40 cents 
on every dollar. Less is coming in than we have got obligations for 
August. 

But I looked at the requirements in August: interest on Treas-
uries, $29 billion; Social Security, $49 billion; Medicare, $50 billion; 
defense vendor payments, $31 billion; unemployment benefits, $12 
billion. So if you just paid those items, you would spend $172 bil-
lion; in other words, you have spent the money that came in. And 
since we have not raised the debt ceiling, that is it. 

Now, there is a whole list of items under that that are not get-
ting paid, and you might move some of those up. But it is pretty 
awful: Veterans Affairs programs; we have not made payroll for the 
Federal Government; that does not include military pay, although 
many would argue it should be above the line. 

How will the market regard us—let us say we can deal with this 
Treasury issue. How will the market regard us not paying this long 
list of other financial obligations? They are not securities, but they 
are truly financial obligations. 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, Senator, nobody knows with certainty, 
which is part of the reason why we should not be taking this risk 
in the first place. But it seems to me very reasonable to expect that 
a government that shows it is unwilling to pay its bills, pay its ob-
ligations, would engender some distrust in the markets and that 
we would still see response of interest rates and increased financial 
volatility. 

I should say once again that this is a hypothetical discussion be-
cause Treasury takes the view that it is not appropriate or feasible 
to prioritize in that strict way that you described. 

Senator JOHANNS. I will just wrap up with one last comment be-
cause my time has expired. For me, this is mathematics. So much 
money comes in, so much money goes out. It is mathematics. It is 
not magic. My hope is that between now and whatever date Treas-
ury, you, others will descend upon the Hill to do what I have done, 
to avoid some of the discussion that, quite honestly, maybe is not 
just fully accurate—and I do not want to accuse anybody of any-
thing, but I think this would be very helpful to understand the 
math. 
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Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Chairman JOHNSON. Senator Bennet. 
Senator BENNET. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Just to follow up on Senator Johanns’ line of questioning, first, 

Mr. Chairman, and I do not mean this in a technical sense, but 
isn’t there a huge risk if we announce to the world that we cannot 
raise the debt ceiling, that we are so politically dysfunctional that 
there is no plan, that the market would treat our lack of payment 
on any of these obligations as a cross-default, in effect, with the 
debt, and then we would see interest rate rates rise very quickly 
as a result of that. 

Mr. BERNANKE. Again, nobody knows for sure, but that is a pos-
sibility. And I would just add that nobody thinks the United States 
cannot pay its debts. It is really a political risk, not a—— 

Senator BENNET. It is a political risk. 
Mr. BERNANKE. It is not an economic risk. 
Senator BENNET. Exactly. It is a political risk. No mayor in my 

State of Colorado would ever threaten to jeopardize the credit rat-
ing of his city. He would be run out on a rail for doing it. And we 
find ourselves in this position. 

I wanted to ask a question that—and, by the way, we are not fo-
cused on the things that Senator Kohl was talking about, which is 
what the people in my State want to know: how we are going to 
create an economy where median family income is actually rising 
instead of falling and what we are doing to create jobs. I appreciate 
that line of questioning. 

Moody’s said yesterday: 
An actual default, regardless of duration, would fundamentally alter 
Moody’s assessment of the timeliness of future payments, and a AAA rating 
would likely no longer be appropriate. 

Can you remember the last time a credit rating agency threat-
ened a downgrade of U.S. debt? 

Mr. BERNANKE. It has happened recently. 
Senator BENNET. Before this. 
Mr. BERNANKE. But before this? 
Senator BENNET. It happened recently in the same context that 

we are in today. 
Mr. BERNANKE. The current context, yes. 
Senator BENNET. Right. When was the last time before this de-

bate about raising the debt ceiling arose? 
Mr. BERNANKE. I do not think that has happened in the 20th 

century, but I am not certain. 
Senator BENNET. We are now in the 21st century, so it has not 

happened in the 21st century, it has not happened in the 20th cen-
tury. 

Mr. BERNANKE. I do not believe so. 
Senator BENNET. This Congress has put ourselves in this position 

where credit ratings are actually threatening our credit rating. 
Mr. BERNANKE. That is right. 
Senator BENNET. Can you think of an asset that is more impor-

tant to us than our credit rating? When you think about the—— 
Mr. BERNANKE. Well, there are many assets, but clearly the—— 
Senator BENNET. That gives us more competitive advantage than 

our credit rating? 
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Mr. BERNANKE. It is tremendously important that we have the 
confidence of the world in terms of willingness to hold Treasuries, 
to trade in Treasuries, to maintain a liquid market in Treasuries 
for the stability of the dollar. It is a very important asset, and los-
ing that credit rating is a self-inflicted wound. 

Senator BENNET. Mr. Chairman, am I over time? I am confused 
about the clock? Did we reset it? 

Chairman JOHNSON. Yes, it has been reset. 
Senator BENNET. Thank you. I still have time left. 
I want to come back to the question of what the effect of losing 

that credit rating would be—not on our interests cost in the Gov-
ernment because we know they would—the effect would obviously 
be devastating, but the effect on people living in the State of Colo-
rado. You generally talked about how interest rates—but if you 
could specifically say to people in my State, what does it mean to 
me when I go to buy a car or to get a bank loan or to buy my house 
or to go to the grocery store? What is the effect on me if people 
wake up in August of 2011 and our debt has been downgraded by 
these rating agencies and we do not have a political path forward 
to address the problem? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, Treasuries are the benchmark security. 
Most other interest rates are priced off of Treasuries. So if 5-, 10- 
year Treasury yields were to go up by 2 percentage points, then 
you would expect to see mortgage rates go up immediately by 2 
percentage points, and likewise with other borrowing costs that 
firms and households face. 

There would also very likely be an impact on the economy, which 
would then affect jobs and consumer income as well. 

Senator BENNET. What do you mean by ‘‘affect jobs’’? 
Mr. BERNANKE. Higher interest rates, uncertainty, fiscal contrac-

tion—all those—— 
Senator BENNET. Higher unemployment. 
Mr. BERNANKE. It would lead to higher unemployment. 
Senator BENNET. It would lead to higher unemployment. The un-

employment rate today is 9 percent. 
Mr. BERNANKE. Correct. 
Senator BENNET. Can you think of a greater self-inflicted wound 

that we could manage to accomplish through our dysfunctionality 
than drive our unemployment rate higher when it is at 9 percent? 

Mr. BERNANKE. We certainly do not want to take an action to 
threaten our credit rating or to drive up our interest rates, which 
is counterproductive to the goal of reducing the deficit. 

Senator BENNET. Well, that was where I was going next. 
Mr. BERNANKE. Right, right. 
Senator BENNET. Which is, if all you cared about, if the only 

thing—the sun rose in the morning and it set at night and the only 
thing you were thinking about was our deficit—which is of huge 
concern to me. I have spent a lot of time on the floor talking about 
it. I have got kids that I am worried about, and we have got to get 
a hold of it—we really do—in a bipartisan way. Can you think of 
anything that would be more destructive to my desire to pay down 
our deficit than to fail to raise the debt ceiling—raise the interest 
rate? 

Mr. BERNANKE. You tax my imagination. 
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Senator BENNET. I tax your imagination. 
Mr. BERNANKE. Yes. 
Senator BENNET. Even economists have imaginations. 
Mr. BERNANKE. Even some. 
[Laughter.] 
Senator BENNET. But, you know, in all seriousness—in all seri-

ousness—we are sitting across the table from you saying: 
I am deeply concerned about the fiscal condition of this country, I am deep-
ly concerned about the size of the deficit. Can you think of anything I could 
do that would be more problematic than jeopardize our credit rating? 

Mr. BERNANKE. That would certainly be a very negative thing, 
and this is happening at the same time that Europe is dealing with 
fiscal issues, so there is just a lot of uncertainty piling on each 
other globally. 

Senator BENNET. Right. Exactly. So here is the last thing. We are 
just emerging from the worst recession since the Great Depression, 
and we went into this recession—we sort of went straight off the 
cliff. A lot of people did not predict it. A lot of people could not see 
that it was coming. How do you assess the risk that if we end up 
driving this car over the cliff with our eyes wide open, which they 
are, we could see a downturn in our economy at a point when our 
deficit is already at $1.5 trillion, which it was not before the last 
recession, when your balance sheet is now $3 trillion, which it was 
not before the last downturn, that this economic crisis could be at 
least as bad as the one that we just came out of, and that the pol-
icy responses that are available to you and to the Treasury and to 
the Congress are actually more limited at this point because we are 
still recovering from the last crisis we went through? Could you 
talk that through a little bit? What would it look like on the other 
side if we actually do get to a place where we find ourselves in this 
utterly predictable—— 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, it certainly could slow the economy through 
higher interest rates and through financial volatility, but you actu-
ally make an additional point which I think is worth emphasizing. 
The higher interest rates would add to the deficit, but also a slow-
down in economic activity by reducing revenues would also further 
add to the deficit. So it really is going in the wrong direction in 
terms of fiscal stability. 

Senator BENNET. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I apologize for going 
over. 

Chairman JOHNSON. Senator Corker. 
Senator CORKER. Mr. Chairman, thank you for being here, and 

I will continue, as has been the tradition this morning, to use you 
as a prop to make our own points. 

[Laughter.] 
Senator CORKER. But thank you for your willingness to partici-

pate in that manner. 
The fact is that all this talk about the debt ceiling is farcical at 

this moment. I think we all know that our leadership has concocted 
a scheme where folks on the other side of the aisle can allow the 
debt ceiling to increase and continue to appeal to their constitu-
encies for the 2012 election, and on our side, we can continue to 
cause spending to be an issue for us in the election, and basically 
by virtue of concocting this scheme, we are not going to make any 
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tough decisions. We all know that. And maybe the debt ceiling was 
the wrong place for us to be making that argument. 

But let me move to the other side of this. It is evident the debt 
ceiling is going to be increased. It is probable that not much is 
going to occur as it relates to spending. And I would say that the 
flip side of this is people have to be waking up at some point when 
we go through this whole short-term hurdle and say, you know, on 
the other hand, if the U.S. Government does not do something as 
it relates to spending, then the credit rating agencies—as a matter 
of fact, some of them have already referred to that, not this debt 
ceiling issue, as being a major problem. Would you agree? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Yes, Senator. I want to be clear. Whenever I 
have talked about this, I have had a two-handed economist ap-
proach, which is the debt ceiling needs to be addressed, but we also 
do need to address the stability and sustainability of our fiscal po-
sition. 

Senator CORKER. Yes. So let me, since you are a prop and you 
are answering the way we all want you to answer, I guess the debt 
ceiling is probably not the best place for us to deal with this issue. 
What is the best place for Congress to actually deal with the issues 
of spending? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, through the legislative and consultative 
process that the Founders—— 

Senator CORKER. Is it called a budget? 
Mr. BERNANKE. Well, except for one thing—— 
Senator CORKER. The answer is supposed to be yes—— 
Mr. BERNANKE. Sorry. 
[Laughter.] 
Senator CORKER.——if you are an appropriate prop for us. 
Mr. BERNANKE. I will. My only point was just to say, the answer 

is yes, but we need to think about this both in the current year and 
also on a longer-term basis. 

Senator CORKER. Future years, I agree. 
Mr. BERNANKE. Yes. 
Senator CORKER. So let me just—you know, we basically—I do 

not know what the most common joke is around the Fed about 
most of us around here. I would love to hear it maybe sometime 
if you will not do it with a microphone today, but we basically have 
been sort of feckless Members. 

The U.S. Senate has basically caused this great Nation to be in 
decline because we are not willing to deal with the tough issues we 
need to deal with. So some people resorted to the debt ceiling, and 
that is obviously—we figured out a political solution to that that 
works well for both sides to be able to campaign through 2012. But 
the fact is, we have not dealt with a budget now for some time. 

The majority party could actually be mostly criticized for that, 
but I do not want to do that. I think both sides are critical, because 
now we are moving to a spending bill today without a budget. And 
so all these—this has been a lot of fun, for everybody to use you 
as their prop about the debt ceiling, but the fact is that we are all 
sort of two-bit pawns in all of this by allowing our country to con-
tinue to spend money. 

What has happened is our leadership has wanted to protect us. 
You see, we have to make tough decisions when we budget and 
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prioritize. And so in order to protect majorities, we do not go 
through that process. How do you think—being the good prop that 
you are—how do you think the financial analysts view our inability 
to make those tough decisions? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, as I indicated, I think they view this whole 
situation, both the debt ceiling situation and the long-term fiscal 
stability situation, as being a political issue and not an economic 
issue. The question is whether or not we can come together and 
find real solutions. I think some of the discussions that have been 
had suggest that some very large-scale fixes could be undertaken. 
I am not prescribing one or the other. But we need to do something 
very significant just to keep our debt-to-GDP ratio from rising over 
the next decade, and then after that, we have entitlement issues, 
as well. So we need to do something big, strong—— 

Senator CORKER. I had dinner Monday night with a number of 
my colleagues on both sides of the aisle, and I will not mention who 
they were to impugn them, but all complaining about how dysfunc-
tional this place is, and yet today, I am going to use this oppor-
tunity to point out that we are moving to a spending bill without 
a budget. So any of us who complain about how dysfunctional—and 
my friend used the word ‘‘dysfunctional;’’ I use it often, unfortu-
nately—any of us who complain about how dysfunctional the U.S. 
Government is today and the fact that the Senate is moving our 
country into decline who would then vote for a spending bill with-
out a budget are basically accomplices in allowing us to move to-
ward that place that you are talking about where the credit rating 
agencies are going to be downgrading us because we do not make 
tough decisions. 

My time is up and I appreciate you—basically, when you are the 
second day of Humphrey-Hawkins, there is really not much to talk 
about other than what we want to put forth. I do want to close 
with this. 

I thank you for your service and I respect you and I appreciate 
the way the Fed has been with me very open, very transparent. 
You shared confidences with me that I have keep confidential and 
I have appreciated that. I will tell you that I find the activism at 
the Fed right now a major turn-off and I am very concerned. As 
one person who I think we have had a good relationship, I want 
to tell you that I am quickly moving to a camp that wants to clip 
the wings of the Fed, because I do believe that the activism there 
is distortive of the market, and I believe that the dual mandate 
that we have set up is causing you—something is causing you to 
do a lot of things that I think are going to create some long-term 
damage. 

So just know that while I respect you and I respect certainly the 
people who work with you and I appreciate the kindness, I am ex-
tremely turned off by your activism. 

Chairman JOHNSON. Senator Menendez. 
Senator MENENDEZ. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Chairman Bernanke, thank you again for your service to our 

country. You know, you and I at different times here have spoken 
about the 2008 crisis and the reality that, but for the Congress act-
ing, we would have maybe not been in the deep recession we are 
in but on the verge of a near depression. And as that as a back-
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drop, I look at past recoveries which were first led by a surge in 
the home market, home building, and then by the easing of credit, 
and with the high number of distressed homes on the market cre-
ating a crippled housing construction sector and with financial 
firms still cautious as they rebuild their capital base, is this the 
best recovery we could have expected? And, second, given those 
persisting problems, do you really think, or are there policies that 
can create a stronger recovery with many more jobs? 

Mr. BERNANKE. I do not see any easy solutions, obviously. I cer-
tainly would have recommended them if I saw them. Senator Cork-
er alluded to activism. I think what we are trying to do is to fulfill 
our mandate, which is to provide as much support as we can for 
the recovery. 

On the fiscal side, I recognize there are some real tensions be-
cause there would be scope for targeted programs to help some of 
the issues that we have in housing and otherwise. But I under-
stand the concerns on both sides of the aisle about the long-term 
fiscal stability of the country and the need to address those issues. 
So it is a difficult situation. We do not have any substantial unused 
capacity to increase the speed of the recovery. 

Senator MENENDEZ. And so it is a difficult situation stemming 
from where we started, because there is always a starting point 
here. 

Mr. BERNANKE. That is right. 
Senator MENENDEZ. And so I look at, you know, a combination 

of tax cuts that went unpaid for and deprive the Treasury of enor-
mous amounts of money at a time that we had two wars raging 
abroad in Iraq and Afghanistan, also unpaid for, a new entitlement 
program passed in the past Congress that is unpaid for, and a Wall 
Street that instead of being a free market was a free-for-all market. 
And you put that all together and that is what we are coming out 
of. 

So I am wondering—your answer to me suggests that there is 
not any more monetary policy that is going to come forward that 
could, in essence, seek a more faster, more robust recovery with a 
greater job growth. 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, as I said in my testimony, given that there 
is a lot of uncertainty about how the economy will evolve, we have 
to keep all options, both for tightening and for easing, on the table, 
and we are doing that. But again, we are already providing an ex-
ceptional amount of accommodation. As you know, recovery is still 
pretty slow. 

Senator MENENDEZ. Now, I want to turn to the question of the 
debt ceiling. I know you have discussed that quite a bit. You know, 
I find it interesting. Under President Bush’s years, he raised the 
debt ceiling to the tune of about $5.4 trillion during his period of 
time. I did not hear the same comments then that raising the debt 
ceiling was something that was not necessary to do, that, in es-
sence, having the Nation be a deadbeat is OK. And I find it alarm-
ing that there are people running for high office in this country and 
others already in significant positions who suggest that there is no 
great concern to allowing the Nation to be a deadbeat, to default, 
and no real consequences. 
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And so in pursuit of a solution, we have had these efforts to have 
severe cuts, to consider entitlement changes, as well. But I wonder 
whether entitlement changes should not also be the question of en-
titlements. Somehow, it seems that revenues are now an entitle-
ment, as well. It seems that those who are the wealthiest in the 
country, that major entities like the oil and gas industry that is 
getting $21 billion in tax breaks when they are going to make $144 
billion in profits this year alone, no, we cannot touch them. So it 
seems to me we have a new class of entitlements. 

Is not, in order to solve this problem, it really going to require 
real shared sacrifice, because I look at GDP in this country and 
about 70 percent of it is driven by domestic consumer demand. 
Well, there are no jobs, there is no demand. And if we are going 
to put this on the backs of middle-class working families who spend 
more of their disposable income, then I do not know how we are 
going to drive this economy based upon your previous answer that 
there is not too much more monetary policy we can have. Do you 
not think that it is fair to consider a shared sacrifice that is spread 
across the board to try to solve this debt ceiling question and the 
debt questions that confront the Nation? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, Senator, I think you can appreciate I do 
not inject myself into these negotiations, which are very difficult 
and delicate, but I do hope that everything will be on the table and 
that there will be frank and open discussion about the tradeoffs 
and—— 

Senator MENENDEZ. Well, as fiscal policy, do you believe that 
only one section of the American society should bear the burden? 
For example, is it overwhelmingly going to be the middle class in 
cuts that affect their lives and may have to reach into their pockets 
more at the end of the day that is the way in which we achieve 
the right fiscal policy for the country? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, I think that we want to have shared sac-
rifice. We also want to make sure we maintain a strong economy. 
There are a whole bunch of issues there. These are not issues that 
a pure economic analysis can answer. These are values issues and 
this is what elected officials are supposed to be determining. I real-
ly cannot make those decisions for you. 

Senator MENENDEZ. No, I am not looking for you to do that, Mr. 
Chairman. I just think that we have come to a point in which it 
seems that the tax code for those who benefit by it, whether it be 
large corporations like the oil and gas companies, whether it be the 
wealthiest millionaires and billionaires in the country, they are en-
titled to keep those tax breaks, but middle-class working families 
seem to be called upon for the burden of the resolution of this prob-
lem, and to me, that is both a moral issue, but it also is a fiscal 
issue. It is the wrong process by which we achieve the balance we 
need. 

Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Chairman JOHNSON. Senator Vitter. 
Senator VITTER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you, Mr. 

Chairman, for being here. 
Moody’s, in their recent outlooks, said that a credible agreement 

on substantial deficit reduction would support a continued stable 
outlook. Lack of such an agreement could prompt Moody’s to 
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change its outlook to negative on the AAA rating. Do you think 
that sort of statement about a plan for deficit reduction is indic-
ative of the entire market? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Yes, I do. As I have said, there are two prongs 
here. One is to navigate this debt ceiling issue without any kind 
of disruption, but the other, which would not be successful, that we 
just kick the can down the road in terms of our fiscal, long-term 
fiscal situation. So I very much support a strong fiscal deal. 

Senator VITTER. Right, and I have asked you previously how 
quickly this lack of a sustainable fiscal path could bite us and could 
have serious consequence, and I believe—I do not want to put 
words in your mouth—I believe you said you do not know, but it 
certainly could be sooner rather than later and it is not necessarily 
years off. Could you make a comment on that now? 

Mr. BERNANKE. No, that is correct. Markets are forward looking. 
They are trying to assess the likelihood that they will get paid 
years down the road. And we are seeing it in other countries 
around the world, that there is a loss of confidence by investors in 
a country’s fiscal stability and its political resolve to address those 
fiscal issues, that interest rates can start to rise and then you get 
a vicious circle. 

Senator VITTER. Right. So if the resolution of this present show-
down and negotiation is increasing the debt ceiling with no signifi-
cant change in terms of our fiscal path, how do you think the mar-
kets will digest that? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, I am sorry the two things got linked to-
gether the way they did, but I would very much like to see both 
parts of this work, both addressing the debt ceiling and addressing 
longer-term fiscal issues. I do not know how quickly or in what de-
gree the markets would respond, but I think they are looking to 
Washington to show that they can manage their spending and con-
trol deficits over a long period of time. 

Senator VITTER. What you said a minute ago is part of my point. 
We have been talking about this event for months and it has been 
built up, smartly or dumbly, rightly or wrongly, as an opportunity 
to do something. So particularly with that buildup and that con-
text, I guess my gut is that if we extend the debt limit and essen-
tially do nothing for fiscal sustainability, the markets will have 
some sort of meaningful negative reaction as reflected in the 
Moody’s statement. Would you agree with that or not? 

Mr. BERNANKE. It is possible. 
Senator VITTER. Turning to other policy and talk of, essentially, 

a QE3, I certainly agree with Senator Corker’s comments. I am 
sure that does not surprise you. What would you point to in terms 
of success with QE1 or QE2 in terms of suggesting and convincing 
us that a third round is advisable? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, QE1 came in, basically in March of 2009, 
which was at a very, very weak point in the recovery. It was the 
absolute trough of the economy. The stock market was about half 
where it is now. The first round seemed to restore confidence and 
seemed to strengthen financial markets. It helped the economy 
grow quickly in the latter part of that year. And it was not the only 
contributor to the recovery and improvement in financial condi-
tions, but I think it was a significant contributor. 
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QE2, as it is called, was first signaled in August of last year, and 
as I mentioned in my testimony, at that time, we were missing our 
mandate in the same direction on both parts of the mandate. That 
is, employment was very weak. It looked like the growth was so 
weak that unemployment might start to rise again. And inflation, 
rather than not being inflation, was actually falling down toward 
a very low level, and we know that we have not experienced it here 
since the 1930s that deflation can be a very pernicious situation. 

So our policies, which are admittedly different from the normal 
ones, they lower interest rates, they strengthen asset prices, and 
they provide more incentive for people to borrow, spend, invest. I 
think it obviously has addressed the inflation issue, and we think 
that by the second half of the year, we are going to be more or less 
on target in terms of where we want to be in inflation. And al-
though job creation has not been all we would like it to be, it has 
been consistent with our expectations of about 700,000 jobs over 2 
years. 

So we think it has moved in the right direction and it has not 
had, if our forecasts are right and inflation stabilizes around 2 per-
cent in the second half of the year, then some of these fears about 
hyperinflation and so on will have been shown not to have been ac-
curate. So we think it has been constructive. 

That being said, we are trying to maintain flexibility in both di-
rections, both in terms of easing and tightening. But we recognize 
that monetary policy is not a panacea and we hope that Congress 
will be addressing issues related to the economy, as well. 

Senator VITTER. Mr. Chairman, if I can just have one more ques-
tion to finish out—— 

Senator REED. [Presiding.] Very quickly, sir. 
Senator VITTER. Thank you. In that framework of promoting 

growth, promoting recovery, what do you think the impact would 
be if we announced today letting the Bush tax cuts expire at the 
end of 2012 for the top brackets, so essentially a tax increase for 
those brackets. What do you think the impact on growth and the 
economy would be? 

Mr. BERNANKE. I cannot really assess that. It would have some 
effects on higher marginal rates. It would have some effects on in-
centives. Higher rates would also take some consumer spending out 
of the economy. On the other hand, we have all been talking about 
the importance of addressing the overall deficit situation, so that 
would work in the other direction. So it would have multiple, dif-
ferent effects on the economy, and those kinds of specific policy de-
cisions are going to have to be worked out by the folks who were 
elected to do that. 

Senator REED. Senator Hagan. 
Senator HAGAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and Mr. Bernanke, 

thank you for your testimony and thank you for your hard work 
and all that you are doing right now. 

Mr. BERNANKE. Thank you. 
Senator HAGAN. I served for 10 years in the State Senate in 

North Carolina, co-chaired our budget, and we did everything pos-
sible to keep a AAA credit rating in the State because we knew the 
consequences if we did not, the increase of our interest rates on our 
debt, and I just think the American people deserve better than 
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what they are seeing right now from the lack of inaction—of the 
inability for Democrats and Republicans to come together right now 
and help solve this issue. So I am extremely concerned about it, as 
I know the American people are, and I think we agree that failing 
to raise the debt ceiling could create, obviously, tremendous prob-
lems for our financial system and our economy that you have been 
discussing today and problems that might require accommodative 
monetary policy from the Fed. 

I understand that the Federal funds rates, they cannot be low-
ered in any other meaningful way, and that one of the Fed’s re-
sponses to an economic weakness would be to initiate more securi-
ties purchases. I was just wondering, can you help me understand 
what the Fed would do, how you would respond if we went into de-
fault, and could the Fed purchase Treasury securities that had de-
faulted? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, on that last question, that is really an 
FOMC decision and I would have to leave that to that broader 
group. 

We would do what we could to preserve the operationality of the 
system. We participate in securities transfers and so on. But I 
want to eliminate any expectation that the Fed through any mech-
anism could offset the impact of a default on the Government debt. 
I think that it would be a very destructive event, and while the Fed 
would do what it could, again, I do not think it is fair to have any 
expectations that we could offset the impact of that. 

Senator HAGAN. How would this impact the Fed’s ability to con-
duct monetary policy? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, it would immediately offset a lot of the ben-
efits from our policy by causing interest rates to rise and that 
would effect the state of the economy. It would also likely create 
disorderly conditions in money markets and so on where we do ac-
tually move interest rates around. So it would be counter-
productive, certainly, to the goal of restoring a healthier economy. 

Senator HAGAN. What happens to the Fed’s income and its dis-
tributions to the Treasury if the Treasury stops making timely pay-
ments? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, that part is kind of a wash with respect to 
the Fed’s payments because we receive interest from the Treasury 
and then we remit most of it back to the Treasury. So I think our 
greater concerns would be the impacts on the financial markets. 

I think it is important to understand that Treasuries are not just 
a buy-and-hold asset. They are used for margin, for collateral, for 
liquidity, for hedging, for a whole variety of different functions. 
They are the fundamental element that keeps the financial system 
moving. And so there would be a great deal of disruption in the pri-
vate sector in the financial markets, and that is where I think the 
main problems would occur. 

Senator HAGAN. Chairman Bernanke, I cannot tell you how 
alarmed I was on Friday of this past week when the Bureau of 
Labor Statistics released the employment report and there are over 
430,000 people unemployed in my State now that are looking for 
work. And the bottom line of the creation of 18,000 new jobs na-
tionwide is obviously very disappointing to everybody. 
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I am very concerned, too, about the persistently high unemploy-
ment rate among veterans. We have quite a few veterans in North 
Carolina, and over 13 percent of these veterans are currently un-
employed right now. And it seems that we have got a serious prob-
lem in the short run when it comes to unemployment, and we have 
all been talking about that today, too. I believe it is a problem that 
we do need to separate from the longer-term fiscal imbalance that 
we are attempting to address. 

What can be done in the short term to boost demand, help get 
our citizens back to work? And I would be interested to hear what 
you think of different policies that maybe have worked in the past 
or any policies and thoughts that you might have going forward. 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, we were very disappointed, as well, and as 
I said, we think it is partly temporary. We hope it is going to be 
a little better going forward. 

We have to think of fiscal policy as a whole. It is a complicated 
problem because we are trying to maintain several objectives at the 
same time, and one is we want to achieve a long-term credible sta-
bilization of our fiscal policy and reduce deficits. We want to do 
that in a way that is going to promote growth. We want to have 
a better tax system. We want to have good investments made by 
the Government and so on. 

But I also think we need to be a little bit careful about the very 
short term because the recovery is still fragile and, you know, very 
sharp cuts in the very short term could pose some risk to that re-
covery. So I hope that all those different goals can be combined in 
trying to solve this overall problem. 

Again, the Fed is doing what it can to support the recovery. Con-
gress might want to look at some targeted programs. For example, 
one of the issues that we have been talking about is the effects on 
skills of long-term unemployment. Veterans have perhaps been out 
of the labor force while coming back. So one thing to look at, and 
again, there are many different ways to do this, using the private 
sector and so on, but one thing to look at would be what can we 
do to help unemployed workers refresh their skills so that they will 
be available and eligible for employment when job opportunities 
arise. 

Senator HAGAN. I actually have a bill on that, and I was not 
using you as a prop, either. 

Mr. BERNANKE. As a prop. OK. Thank you. 
[Laughter.] 
Senator HAGAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Senator REED. Senator Wicker. 
Senator WICKER. Thank you, and thank you, Chairman, for your 

testimony this morning and also yesterday, which I watched part 
of. 

I think a number of us on both sides of the table are asking the 
question that is on the minds of Americans, and that is, where is 
the recovery and why is the economy not doing any better? 

In your testimony on page 2, you say that Open Market Com-
mittee participants see the first-half slowdown as persisting for a 
while, and you mention at least four headwinds: number one, slow 
growth in consumer spending; number two, continued depressed 
housing sector; number three still-limited access to credit for some 



34 

households and small businesses; and, number four, fiscal tight-
ening at all levels of Government. 

Let me ask you, isn’t it a fact that another headwind affecting 
our economy and helping to cause this slowdown to persist is the 
daunting slew of regulatory requirements, particularly on financial 
institutions, in the past few years? We have got the Basel capital 
requirements, enhanced examinations of institutions, multiple new 
regulations under Dodd-Frank. Has any attempt been made by the 
Fed or some other entity, by FSOC, to add up the cumulative cost 
of these regulatory burdens? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, what the Federal Reserve does is that for 
each rule that we promulgate, we do a cost/benefit analysis, which 
is part of our practice and required by law, and we do our very best 
to make sure that we interpret the statutes in a way that will be 
effective but will also minimize the costs on the financial system. 
So we are doing what we can to assess the costs and benefits. 

It is a very difficult balance, I agree. On the one hand, we cer-
tainly want to have credit flowing, and we want to have a strong 
financial sector, and I think we will have a strong financial sector. 
But we cannot forget where we were 3 years ago when the finan-
cial system almost collapsed. And we are still seeing the damage 
from that. 

So we are trying to apply rules in a way that will minimize the 
risk of another crisis and still permit good loans to be made to 
creditworthy borrowers. 

Senator WICKER. But you concede that credit is not flowing as it 
should be. 

Mr. BERNANKE. In some areas it is, but in small business and 
some household areas, not like we would like. Part of it is the fi-
nancial condition of the borrowers because they have suffered 
through the recession or the value of their house or collateral has 
fallen that they are not qualified. But certainly there is still some 
tightness in some areas, that is correct. 

Senator WICKER. And small business is where jobs are created. 
Mr. BERNANKE. Small businesses are an important part of job 

creation, yes. 
Senator WICKER. I appreciate that you said you do a cost/benefit 

analysis on each individual regulation. How about looking at doing 
a cost/benefit analysis of the cumulative effect of all the regulations 
taken together? I think it is possible that you might find that at 
some point these expected benefits of addressing the problems of 
2008 become such a burden that actually the cost is too great and 
credit shuts down. 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, to do that, we would have to understand 
the interactions, and we do try to understand those interactions be-
tween different rules. But that is difficult. I understand your point 
and am sympathetic with your point. But once again, we do know 
that a financial crisis can be extraordinarily costly, and so we want 
to take that into account as well. 

Senator WICKER. And one final question. Do you see any particu-
larly negative effect of a short-term increase in the debt ceiling 
given the negotiating impasse that has occurred so far? Would it 
be particularly disadvantageous to our credit rating if we agreed to 
a ceiling last until early next year, for example? 
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Mr. BERNANKE. Well, it would be certainly advantageous not to 
put us in a situation where we are threatening to default or not 
make other payments. That would be—— 

Senator WICKER. It would be far better than no agreement at all, 
would it not? 

Mr. BERNANKE. I think it would, but as Senator Corker pointed 
out, or Senator Vitter, the other part of this is we also want to 
make substantial progress on the long-term fiscal situation. And if 
the rating agencies felt we were just abandoning that effort, that 
would not be so good either. So we want to make a convincing case 
that we are continuing to try to find solutions to our fiscal issues. 

Senator WICKER. And I would share that. I think speaking for 
this side of the aisle, we would continue that, but clearly rather 
than have the situation blow up, a short-term is not something you 
would walk out of the room about, is it? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, my first best is that the debt limit gets in-
creased promptly and that we have a real solution for our longer- 
term fiscal problems. 

Senator WICKER. Thank you. 
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Senator REED. Senator Tester? 
Senator TESTER. Well, thank you, Senator Reed, and you for 

being here, Chairman Bernanke. 
Real quickly, I think we all understand we have a fiscal problem 

in this country. We can keep kicking the can down the road for-
ever. The problem is if we want stability, predictability, depend-
ability, if we want the markets to react like they can, we need a 
long-term plan. Correct? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Correct. 
Senator TESTER. Thank you. I want to talk about housing. One 

of the areas of particular concern to me continues to be the housing 
market. I know it is of concern to you. It is weighing heavily on 
our ability to recover. In fact, earlier I think you told Chairman 
Johnson it is the epicenter of the problem. 

The loan servicers, some of them are square in the middle of this, 
and I think they have taken a role in creating it. They did not 
seem very interested in solving the problem until they were associ-
ated with the problem, to a large extent. We learned about robo- 
signing, which you know about, not double-checking the facts; in 
fact, in some cases even selling mortgages they did not even own. 

The result has been in my State, and I think probably through-
out the country—you would know this better than I—that we have 
got some folks that are being foreclosed on without good reason. In 
fact, that kind of attitude is not healthy for our recovery, and it is 
not going to cut it. 

We have got a number of reports about different settlements that 
address the liabilities associated with toxic mortgages. One bank 
recently announced $20 billion. There is another report as large as 
$30 billion between State and Federal prosecutors. 

It is apparent to me—and I would like to get your opinion on 
this—that some of the same guys that we bailed out in the interest 
of stabilizing the markets are the ones who have made the housing 
market far worse than it has to be. The market is tied in a massive 
knot, and banks have made little progress in untying it. 
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You have performed a second round of stress tests earlier this 
year—correct—to determine the ability of many of these servicers 
to withstand tough conditions? Can you give me a sense of the 
scope and the magnitude of this problem and the challenge it poses 
for the housing market and if, in fact, this second round of stress 
tests have indicated whether these servicers really have the ability 
to get their act together and move forward in a way that can do 
positive things for the housing industry? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, Senator, the stress tests actually bore on 
the broader capital levels of these institutions, not specifically on 
the servicing part. We had an investigation of the servicing con-
cerns jointly with the other banking agencies, and as you know, we 
found many bad practices. I agree with your characterization. It is 
just very poor business, very poor practices in terms of making 
sure that consumers were contacted, that they were appropriately 
treated, that all the legalities were observed, et cetera. 

The Federal Reserve together with other agencies has imposed 
an order on the servicers to fix up their act and to go back and look 
at every foreclosure going back for some number of years and to 
compensate anybody who was injured by their practices. And we 
will be imposing civil money penalties at some point. 

Senator TESTER. That is good. I will tell you that some of the 
folks that dealt in my office—and, by the way, there are a lot of 
folks who did not call my office, and they should not have to call 
a U.S. Senator’s office to get results. But I can give you an example 
of a man who was widowed and was about to be kicked out of his 
house, and within weeks of doing it by one of these servicers. Abso-
lutely ridiculous. So I think you need to help hold the people ac-
countable, and if we can be helpful in that, we will. 

The housing market, it is in a knot. What can you do to help un-
wind it? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, from the Fed’s perspective we are trying 
first obviously to keep mortgage rates low. We are trying to encour-
age lending, an appropriate balance of lending between making 
sure that loans are safe and sound but making sure creditworthy 
borrowers have access to credit. 

I think one area where I think Congress might want to take a 
look, one of the basic problems is that we have such a large over-
hang of empty, distressed-sale, foreclosed-upon houses. That is 
pulling down prices. That is pulling down appraisals. As I men-
tioned earlier, there are about half a million of these houses in the 
REO books of the banks and Fannie and Freddie, plenty more with 
other types of ownership. And it is hurting neighborhoods, it is 
hurting cities. I think that is an area that is worth looking at. Can 
we find a way to try and reduce that overhang or to try to provide 
incentives for investors to convert them or something like that? I 
think that is one of the main problems that the Fed cannot directly 
address, but it could be addressed perhaps by some focused pro-
gram. 

Senator TESTER. OK. Do you have any idea of how many—we 
talked about excess housing for a while, and that is the overhang 
you are talking about, right? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, that is just the REO. There are a couple 
million houses that are vacant. 
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Senator TESTER. And typically what do we have normally in a ro-
bust housing market? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Probably a third of that. I do not know the exact 
number. 

Senator TESTER. OK. Do you have any idea of what percentage 
of homes are underwater at this point in time? 

Mr. BERNANKE. About a quarter or more, 25 to 30 percent. 
Senator TESTER. A quarter or more? 
Mr. BERNANKE. Of mortgages. Not homes but of mortgaged 

homes. 
Senator TESTER. OK. All right. Well, thank you very much, Mr. 

Chairman. I appreciate it. 
Thank you, Senator Reed. 
Senator REED. Senator Schumer, please. 
Senator SCHUMER. Thank you, Mr. Chairman—Mr. Chairman 

and Mr. Chairman, for being here, and my colleague Jon Tester. 
First, I would like to talk a little bit about deficit reduction, and 

Senator Wicker touched on this, but I want to clarify. Leader 
McConnell, as you know, has proposed a plan that would allow for 
the debt ceiling to be lifted but without accomplishing any debt re-
duction. Many of us have conflicted feelings about this approach 
because, on the one hand, it would ensure we do not default, but 
on the other, it does not make any headway in reducing our debt, 
which sooner or later will cause problems. I like to say we are 
blindfolded man heading toward a cliff. If we keep walking in that 
direction, we will fall off. Some people think the cliff is 5 yards 
away, and some people think it is 50 or 100 yards away. But we 
are headed that way. 

Anyway, we have to make—the McConnell plan says, OK, renew 
the ceiling, no progress on debt. 

Which do you think would be more reassuring to investors and 
the markets: just raising the debt ceiling or raising the debt ceiling 
and achieving some debt reduction at the same time? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, as I said to Senator Wicker, there are two 
prongs to this: one is to avoid the problems associated with not 
raising the debt ceiling, but the other is to make meaningful reduc-
tions in the long-term deficit. 

Senator SCHUMER. It would be better to do both than just one. 
Mr. BERNANKE. We certainly should. That is certainly the best 

outcome. 
Senator SCHUMER. OK, and that is the outcome some of us are 

working toward right now, so I appreciate that, because to do one 
without the other does not make much sense. 

This is about prioritizing interest payments. Many of our Repub-
lican colleagues here in the Senate today, Mr. Toomey on the Com-
mittee, they seem to feel that we can avoid default by prioritizing 
interest payments on the debt, pay back just the debt we owe but 
not all the other obligations, whether it is paying our troops or pay-
ing the FAA, the guys in the towers so our airplanes can go, our 
food inspectors, our Border Patrol, our FBI. 

But if we do not raise the debt ceiling after August 2nd, that 
would require us to stop paying almost half of our other bills, even 
if you paid back the debt. Isn’t that just default by another name? 
And, in fact, wouldn’t the credit rating agencies likely downgrade 
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our credit rating anyway if we miss payments on our other obliga-
tions? 

Mr. BERNANKE. I think the downgrade is possible. I do not know 
for sure. I do not think they have stated that precisely. But, yes, 
I do think this is a direction we do not want to go. I think that 
not paying our obligations, whether they be financial obligations or 
payments to Social Security recipients or others, any of those 
things would involve essentially a default. 

Senator SCHUMER. So you do not agree with those that—that in 
a sense is default, right? 

Mr. BERNANKE. I want to add that the Treasury has been pretty 
clear that they do not think that is either appropriate and they are 
concerned about—— 

Senator SCHUMER. And, by the way, to boot, wouldn’t that hurt 
the economy? If we stop—— 

Mr. BERNANKE. Yes, of course. 
Senator SCHUMER.——paying $160, $170 billion worth of obliga-

tions—maybe it is $110 billion, but it is over $100 billion of obliga-
tions. Some estimate that it could reduce the GDP by a significant 
percent. Is that right? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Sure. Of course. 
Senator SCHUMER. So it seems to me you are saying—and I am 

not going to put words in your mouth—that Senator Toomey is just 
way off base here. For a smart guy, I mean, to say we can pay the 
obligations and not pay the rest and that is just fine, wow, I am 
sort of surprised at it. And I do think, by the way, in today’s Wall 
Street Journal I think, it stated that Standard & Poor’s said it 
would likely downgrade U.S. debt if we missed payments on other 
obligations, so they agree with you. OK. 

Next, short-term extension. Some around here—Leader Cantor 
has been pushing this—have advocated shorter-term extensions of 
the debt ceiling so we would have to do this every few months. 
Now, of course, markets would be relieved that default is off the 
table—in other words, better than not doing anything. But do you 
agree that eventually the markets would start to get nervous that 
we cannot find the political will to get a meaningful deal together 
and might start to view us a little more like Europe? Wouldn’t it 
send a troubling signal to the markets if Congress attempted to 
only extend the debt ceiling a month or two at a time? 

Mr. BERNANKE. It is important both to raise the debt ceiling to 
avoid these kinds of problems we discussed; it is also important to 
show that we can make progress on the long-term deficit. 

Senator SCHUMER. But I am not talking about the long-term def-
icit. I am talking about renewal of the debt ceiling by such a little 
amount that month after month we would have to come back and 
renew it. Isn’t it preferable to do it in as large an amount as pos-
sible just from the debt ceiling point of view? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, there are political and tactical issues here 
which I do not want to get into, but clearly—— 

Senator SCHUMER. I am not asking you that. I am asking eco-
nomically. 

Mr. BERNANKE.——what we want to do is to get as big a deal as 
we can to show that we are serious and that we are going to ad-
dress the long-term stability—— 
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Senator SCHUMER. How would you characterize a 1-month exten-
sion of the debt ceiling compared to, say, doing it until 2012? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well—— 
Senator SCHUMER. Two thousand thirteen, early 2013? 
Mr. BERNANKE. The risk is that you would lose credibility in the 

markets about your willingness to carry through, and so if you did 
that, it would be important to send signals somehow that you have 
a plan and—— 

Senator SCHUMER. Better to do it through 2013 than do it a 
month at a time? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, better to do a strong, credible plan, and the 
sooner the better. 

Senator SCHUMER. OK. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
Mr. BERNANKE. Thank you. 
Senator REED. Thank you, Senator Schumer. 
I just have one question. Who is the largest holder of our Treas-

ury debt and our agency debt? Is it the Chinese Government or 
Chinese institutions? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, the Fed has a lot—— 
Senator REED. You have a lot of it. 
Mr. BERNANKE. The Chinese, I think probably right. 
Senator REED. Right after the Fed would be the Chinese. 
Mr. BERNANKE. As an individual institution, the central bank 

that holds the reserves. 
Senator REED. Of China. 
Mr. BERNANKE. Of China, yes. 
Senator REED. So, effectively, if we were to be paying our debt 

and not paying our Social Security payments, we would be prin-
cipally paying the Chinese central bank in lieu of paying Ameri-
cans? 

Mr. BERNANKE. That is right. But if we did not do that we would 
suffer financial consequences. 

Senator REED. I completely concur, and I think the solution is to 
appropriately raise the debt ceiling, deal with the fiscal issues of 
the deficit that we face, and we are trying to do that. But just iron-
ically, you know, when you do this sort of prioritization, the irony 
is the priority is to the Chinese central bank, and lower on the 
pecking order would practically be seniors and Social Security re-
cipients and maybe even American military personnel. I think that 
is the reality, isn’t it? 

Mr. BERNANKE. Well, again, if prioritization were even fea-
sible—— 

Senator REED. Were even feasible. Your point is you do not be-
lieve it is even feasible. 

Well, Mr. Chairman, thank you again not only for your testimony 
today but your service to the Nation in very, very difficult and 
challenging times. 

The hearing record will remain open for 7 days for additional 
statements and questions. With that, the hearing is adjourned. 
Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 

Mr. BERNANKE. Thank you, Senator. 
[Whereupon, at 12:15 p.m., the hearing was adjourned.] 
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[Prepared statements and response to written questions supplied 
for the record follow:] 



41 

PREPARED STATEMENT OF SENATOR JERRY MORAN 

Mr. Chairman, I thank you for calling this hearing today and I thank Chairman 
Bernanke for joining us to have an important discussion about the state of our econ-
omy. 

Mr. Chairman—as you well know, our country is facing a financial crisis. But in 
my view, the financial collapse around the corner is the most expected economic cri-
sis in our lifetime, yet nothing is being done to stop it. The co-chairs of the Presi-
dent’s own Fiscal Commission agree and have warned that if we fail to take swift 
and serious action, the United States faces ‘‘the most predictable economic crisis in 
its history.’’ They predict such an event could occur in 2 years or less. 

The President’s solution is to raise revenues to balance the budget, but does any-
one really believe that increased taxes will be used to pay down the debt or will 
it just be used for even more spending? History shows that money raised in Wash-
ington, DC, results in more spending in Washington, DC. If we increase taxes, we 
reduce the chance of economic growth and we reduce the chance of more and better 
paying jobs. 

In Kansas, for example, the President proposes we increase taxes on those who 
own a business plane. Airplanes are a pretty important component of our State’s 
economy, and this proposal would have a devastating impact upon the Wichita econ-
omy, which has already suffered the loss of thousands of jobs under declining busi-
ness in this country. Now is not the time to penalize a U.S. industry that produces 
the best quality airplanes in the world. The United States and North America ship 
a significant amount of business jets worldwide, more than any other region in the 
world. But because of the recession, nearly every aircraft manufacturer has had to 
cut jobs, some up to 50 percent of their workforce. We see this in Kansas day in 
and day out, and yet the proposal is to make it more expensive to own an aircraft. 
This does not punish the owners of aircraft. It punishes the people who work every 
day to make an airplane. 

To turn our economy around and put people back to work, Congress and the 
Obama administration should be implementing policies that encourage job creation, 
not diminish the chances; rein in burdensome Government regulations; replace our 
convoluted Tax Code with one that is fair, simple, and certain; open foreign markets 
for American manufactured goods and agricultural products; and develop a com-
prehensive energy policy. Yet none of these things are being done. 

The debate over Government spending is often seen as a philosophical or aca-
demic debate that always goes on in Washington, DC. And I am aware of the heated 
rhetoric that has been exchanged between both political parties the last few weeks, 
but the reality is this time it is different, and our failure to act will have dramatic 
consequences on the daily lives of Americans. 

Officials from the Obama administration warn that the failure of Congress to 
raise the legal debt limit would risk default. But at least an equal economic threat 
confronts our country: the consequences of allowing our country’s pattern of spend-
ing and borrowing to continue without a serious plan to reduce that debt. We are 
not immune from the laws of economics that face every country, and if we fail to 
get our financial house in order, our creditors will decide we are no longer credit-
worthy, and we will face the same consequences that other countries are suffering 
that followed this path. 

Our Government is not on the verge of a financial meltdown because Republicans 
will not vote to raise the debt ceiling. We are at the point of financial catastrophe 
because Republicans and Democrats have spent money we do not have for way too 
long. We must now seize this opportunity to force elected officials to do something 
they otherwise would not do: curb spending, balance the budget, and put in place 
policies that allow business, industry, and agriculture to invest in plants and equip-
ment and create jobs. 

If we fail to act responsibly, if we fail to act as we should, if we let this issue 
pass one more time for somebody else to solve because it is so difficult, we will re-
duce the opportunities the next generation of Americans have to pursue the Amer-
ican dream. I look forward to having a conversation with Chairman Bernanke about 
these topics and thank him for his appearance here today. 

PREPARED STATEMENT OF BEN S. BERNANKE 
CHAIRMAN, BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE FEDERAL RESERVE SYSTEM 

JULY 14, 2011 

Chairman Johnson, Ranking Member Shelby, and other Members of the Com-
mittee, I am pleased to present the Federal Reserve’s semiannual Monetary Policy 
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1 Note that these projections do not incorporate the most recent economic news, including last 
Friday’s labor market report. 

Report to the Congress. I will begin with a discussion of current economic conditions 
and the outlook and then turn to monetary policy. 
The Economic Outlook 

The U.S. economy has continued to recover, but the pace of the expansion so far 
this year has been modest. After increasing at an annual rate of 2 3⁄4 percent in the 
second half of 2010, real gross domestic product (GDP) rose at about a 2 percent 
rate in the first quarter of this year, and incoming data suggest that the pace of 
recovery remained soft in the spring. At the same time, the unemployment rate, 
which had appeared to be on a downward trajectory at the turn of the year, has 
moved back above 9 percent. 

In part, the recent weaker-than-expected economic performance appears to have 
been the result of several factors that are likely to be temporary. Notably, the run- 
up in prices of energy, especially gasoline, and food has reduced consumer pur-
chasing power. In addition, the supply chain disruptions that occurred following the 
earthquake in Japan caused U.S. motor vehicle producers to sharply curtail assem-
blies and limited the availability of some models. Looking forward, however, the ap-
parent stabilization in the prices of oil and other commodities should ease the pres-
sure on household budgets, and vehicle manufacturers report that they are making 
significant progress in overcoming the parts shortages and expect to increase pro-
duction substantially this summer. 

In light of these developments, the most recent projections by members of the 
Federal Reserve Board and presidents of the Federal Reserve Banks, prepared in 
conjunction with the Federal Open Market Committee (FOMC) meeting in late 
June, reflected their assessment that the pace of the economic recovery will pick up 
in coming quarters. Specifically, participants’ projections for the increase in real 
GDP have a central tendency of 2.7 to 2.9 percent for 2011, inclusive of the weak 
first half, and 3.3 to 3.7 percent in 2012—projections that, if realized, would con-
stitute a notably better performance than we have seen so far this year.1 

FOMC participants continued to see the economic recovery strengthening over the 
medium term, with the central tendency of their projections for the increase in real 
GDP picking up to 3.5 to 4.2 percent in 2013. At the same time, the central ten-
dencies of the projections of real GDP growth in 2011 and 2012 were marked down 
nearly 1⁄2 percentage point compared with those reported in April, suggesting that 
FOMC participants saw at least some part of the first-half slowdown as persisting 
for a while. Among the headwinds facing the economy are the slow growth in con-
sumer spending, even after accounting for the effects of higher food and energy 
prices; the continuing depressed condition of the housing sector; still-limited access 
to credit for some households and small businesses; and fiscal tightening at all lev-
els of Government. Consistent with projected growth in real output modestly above 
its trend rate, FOMC participants expected that, over time, the jobless rate will de-
cline—albeit only slowly—toward its longer-term normal level. The central ten-
dencies of participants’ forecasts for the unemployment rate were 8.6 to 8.9 percent 
for the fourth quarter of this year, 7.8 to 8.2 percent at the end of 2012, and 7.0 
to 7.5 percent at the end of 2013. 

The most recent data attest to the continuing weakness of the labor market: The 
unemployment rate increased to 9.2 percent in June, and gains in nonfarm payroll 
employment were below expectations for a second month. To date, of the more than 
8 1⁄2 million jobs lost in the recession, 1 3⁄4 million have been regained. Of those em-
ployed, about 6 percent—8.6 million workers—report that they would like to be 
working full time but can only obtain part-time work. Importantly, nearly half of 
those currently unemployed have been out of work for more than 6 months, by far 
the highest ratio in the post-World War II period. Long-term unemployment imposes 
severe economic hardships on the unemployed and their families, and, by leading 
to an erosion of skills of those without work, it both impairs their lifetime employ-
ment prospects and reduces the productive potential of our economy as a whole. 

Much of the slowdown in aggregate demand this year has been centered in the 
household sector, and the ability and willingness of consumers to spend will be an 
important determinant of the pace of the recovery in coming quarters. Real dispos-
able personal income over the first 5 months of 2011 was boosted by the reduction 
in payroll taxes, but those gains were largely offset by higher prices for gasoline and 
other commodities. Households report that they have little confidence in the dura-
bility of the recovery and about their own income prospects. Moreover, the ongoing 
weakness in home values is holding down household wealth and weighing on con-
sumer sentiment. On the positive side, household debt burdens are declining, delin-
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quency rates on credit card and auto loans are down significantly, and the number 
of homeowners missing a mortgage payment for the first time is decreasing. The an-
ticipated pickups in economic activity and job creation, together with the expected 
easing of price pressures, should bolster real household income, confidence, and 
spending in the medium run. 

Residential construction activity remains at an extremely low level. The demand 
for homes has been depressed by many of the same factors that have held down con-
sumer spending more generally, including the slowness of the recovery in jobs and 
income as well as poor consumer sentiment. Mortgage interest rates are near record 
lows, but access to mortgage credit continues to be constrained. Also, many potential 
homebuyers remain concerned about buying into a falling market, as weak demand 
for homes, the substantial backlog of vacant properties for sale, and the high propor-
tion of distressed sales are keeping downward pressure on house prices. 

Two bright spots in the recovery have been exports and business investment in 
equipment and software. Demand for U.S.-made capital goods from both domestic 
and foreign firms has supported manufacturing production throughout the recovery 
thus far. Both equipment and software outlays and exports increased solidly in the 
first quarter, and the data on new orders received by U.S. producers suggest that 
the trend continued in recent months. Corporate profits have been strong, and larg-
er nonfinancial corporations with access to capital markets have been able to refi-
nance existing debt and lock in funding at lower yields. Borrowing conditions for 
businesses generally have continued to ease, although, as mentioned, the avail-
ability of credit appears to remain relatively limited for some small firms. 

Inflation has picked up so far this year. The price index for personal consumption 
expenditures (PCE) rose at an annual rate of more than 4 percent over the first 5 
months of 2011, and 2 1⁄2 percent on a 12-month basis. Much of the acceleration was 
the result of higher prices for oil and other commodities and for imported goods. In 
addition, prices of motor vehicles increased sharply when supplies of new models 
were curtailed by parts shortages associated with the earthquake in Japan. Most 
of the recent rise in inflation appears likely to be transitory, and FOMC participants 
expected inflation to subside in coming quarters to rates at or below the level of 2 
percent or a bit less that participants view as consistent with our dual mandate of 
maximum employment and price stability. The central tendency of participants’ 
forecasts for the rate of increase in the PCE price index was 2.3 to 2.5 percent for 
2011 as a whole, which implies a significant slowing of inflation in the second half 
of the year. In 2012 and 2013, the central tendency of the inflation forecasts was 
1.5 to 2.0 percent. Reasons to expect inflation to moderate include the apparent sta-
bilization in the prices of oil and other commodities, which is already showing 
through to retail gasoline and food prices; the still-substantial slack in U.S. labor 
and product markets, which has made it difficult for workers to obtain wage gains 
and for firms to pass through their higher costs; and the stability of longer-term in-
flation expectations, as measured by surveys of households, the forecasts of profes-
sional private-sector economists, and financial market indicators. 

Monetary Policy 
FOMC members’ judgments that the pace of the economic recovery over coming 

quarters will likely remain moderate, that the unemployment rate will consequently 
decline only gradually, and that inflation will subside are the basis for the Commit-
tee’s decision to maintain a highly accommodative monetary policy. As you know, 
that policy currently consists of two parts. First, the target range for the Federal 
funds rate remains at 0 to 1⁄4 percent and, as indicated in the statement released 
after the June meeting, the Committee expects that economic conditions are likely 
to warrant exceptionally low levels of the Federal funds rate for an extended period. 

The second component of monetary policy has been to increase the Federal Re-
serve’s holdings of longer-term securities, an approach undertaken because the tar-
get for the Federal funds rate could not be lowered meaningfully further. The Fed-
eral Reserve’s acquisition of longer-term Treasury securities boosted the prices of 
such securities and caused longer-term Treasury yields to be lower than they would 
have been otherwise. In addition, by removing substantial quantities of longer-term 
Treasury securities from the market, the Fed’s purchases induced private investors 
to acquire other assets that serve as substitutes for Treasury securities in the finan-
cial marketplace, such as corporate bonds and mortgage-backed securities. By this 
means, the Fed’s asset purchase program—like more conventional monetary policy— 
has served to reduce the yields and increase the prices of those other assets as well. 
The net result of these actions is lower borrowing costs and easier financial condi-
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2 The Federal Reserve’s recently completed securities purchase program has changed the aver-
age maturity of Treasury securities held by the public only modestly, suggesting that such an 
effect likely did not contribute substantially to the reduction in Treasury yields. Rather, the 
more important channel of effect was the removal of Treasury securities from the market, which 
reduced Treasury yields generally while inducing private investors to hold alternative assets 
(the portfolio reallocation effect). The substitution into alternative assets raised their prices and 
lowered their yields, easing overall financial conditions. 

3 Studies that have provided estimates of the effects of large-scale asset purchases, holding 
constant other factors, include James D. Hamilton and Jing (Cynthia) Wu (2011), ‘‘The Effective-
ness of Alternative Monetary Policy Tools in a Zero Lower Bound Environment,’’ NBER Working 
Paper Series No. 16956 (Cambridge, Mass: National Bureau of Economic Research, April), and 
Journal of Money, Credit and Banking (forthcoming); Arvind Krishnamurthy and Annette 
Vissing-Jorgensen (2011), ‘‘The Effects of Quantitative Easing on Interest Rates,’’ working paper 
(Evanston, Ill.: Kellogg School of Management, Northwestern University, June); Stefania 
D’Amico and Thomas B. King (2010), ‘‘Flow and Stock Effects of Large-Scale Treasury Pur-
chases,’’ Finance and Economics Discussion Series 2010–52 (Washington: Board of Governors of 
the Federal Reserve System, September); Joseph Gagnon, Matthew Raskin, Julie Remache, and 
Brian Sack (2011), ‘‘Large-Scale Asset Purchases by the Federal Reserve: Did They Work?’’ Fed-
eral Reserve Bank of New York, Economic Policy Review, vol 17 (May), pp. 41–59; and Eric T. 
Swanson (2011), ‘‘Let’s Twist Again: A High-Frequency Event-Study Analysis of Operation Twist 
and Its Implications for QE2,’’ Working Paper Series 2011–08 (San Francisco: Federal Reserve 
Bank of San Francisco, February), and Brookings Papers on Economic Activity (forthcoming). 

4 See Hess Chung, Jean-Philippe Laforte, David Reifschneider, and John C. Williams (2011), 
‘‘Have We Underestimated the Likelihood and Severity of Zero Lower Bound Events?’’ Working 
Paper Series 2011–01 (San Francisco: Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco, January). 

tions throughout the economy.2 We know from many decades of experience with 
monetary policy that, when the economy is operating below its potential, easier fi-
nancial conditions tend to promote more rapid economic growth. Estimates based on 
a number of recent studies as well as Federal Reserve analyses suggest that, all else 
being equal, the second round of asset purchases probably lowered longer-term in-
terest rates approximately 10 to 30 basis points.3 Our analysis further indicates 
that a reduction in longer-term interest rates of this magnitude would be roughly 
equivalent in terms of its effect on the economy to a 40 to 120 basis point reduction 
in the Federal funds rate. 

In June, we completed the planned purchases of $600 billion in longer-term Treas-
ury securities that the Committee initiated in November, while continuing to rein-
vest the proceeds of maturing or redeemed longer-term securities in Treasuries. Al-
though we are no longer expanding our securities holdings, the evidence suggests 
that the degree of accommodation delivered by the Federal Reserve’s securities pur-
chase program is determined primarily by the quantity and mix of securities that 
the Federal Reserve holds rather than by the current pace of new purchases. Thus, 
even with the end of net new purchases, maintaining our holdings of these securi-
ties should continue to put downward pressure on market interest rates and foster 
more accommodative financial conditions than would otherwise be the case. It is 
worth emphasizing that our program involved purchases of securities, not Govern-
ment spending, and, as I will discuss later, when the macroeconomic circumstances 
call for it, we will unwind those purchases. In the meantime, interest on those secu-
rities is remitted to the U.S. Treasury. 

When we began this program, we certainly did not expect it to be a panacea for 
the country’s economic problems. However, as the expansion weakened last summer, 
developments with respect to both components of our dual mandate implied that ad-
ditional monetary accommodation was needed. In that context, we believed that the 
program would both help reduce the risk of deflation that had emerged and provide 
a needed boost to faltering economic activity and job creation. The experience to 
date with the round of securities purchases that just ended suggests that the pro-
gram had the intended effects of reducing the risk of deflation and shoring up eco-
nomic activity. In the months following the August announcement of our policy of 
reinvesting maturing and redeemed securities and our signal that we were consid-
ering more purchases, inflation compensation as measured in the market for infla-
tion-indexed securities rose from low to more normal levels, suggesting that the per-
ceived risks of deflation had receded markedly. This was a significant achievement, 
as we know from the Japanese experience that protracted deflation can be quite 
costly in terms of weaker economic growth. 

With respect to employment, our expectations were relatively modest; estimates 
made in the autumn suggested that the additional purchases could boost employ-
ment by about 700,000 jobs over 2 years, or about 30,000 extra jobs per month.4 
Even including the disappointing readings for May and June, which reflected in part 
the temporary factors discussed earlier, private payroll gains have averaged 160,000 
per month in the first half of 2011, compared with average increases of only about 
80,000 private jobs per month from May to August 2010. Not all of the step-up in 
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hiring was necessarily the result of the asset purchase program, but the comparison 
is consistent with our expectations for employment gains. Of course, we will be mon-
itoring developments in the labor market closely. 

Once the temporary shocks that have been holding down economic activity pass, 
we expect to again see the effects of policy accommodation reflected in stronger eco-
nomic activity and job creation. However, given the range of uncertainties about the 
strength of the recovery and prospects for inflation over the medium term, the Fed-
eral Reserve remains prepared to respond should economic developments indicate 
that an adjustment in the stance of monetary policy would be appropriate. 

On the one hand, the possibility remains that the recent economic weakness may 
prove more persistent than expected and that deflationary risks might reemerge, 
implying a need for additional policy support. Even with the Federal funds rate 
close to zero, we have a number of ways in which we could act to ease financial 
conditions further. One option would be to provide more explicit guidance about the 
period over which the Federal funds rate and the balance sheet would remain at 
their current levels. Another approach would be to initiate more securities pur-
chases or to increase the average maturity of our holdings. The Federal Reserve 
could also reduce the 25 basis point rate of interest it pays to banks on their re-
serves, thereby putting downward pressure on short-term rates more generally. Of 
course, our experience with these policies remains relatively limited, and employing 
them would entail potential risks and costs. However, prudent planning requires 
that we evaluate the efficacy of these and other potential alternatives for deploying 
additional stimulus if conditions warrant. 

On the other hand, the economy could evolve in a way that would warrant a move 
toward less-accommodative policy. Accordingly, the Committee has been giving care-
ful consideration to the elements of its exit strategy, and, as reported in the minutes 
of the June FOMC meeting, it has reached a broad consensus about the sequence 
of steps that it expects to follow when the normalization of policy becomes appro-
priate. In brief, when economic conditions warrant, the Committee would begin the 
normalization process by ceasing the reinvestment of principal payments on its se-
curities, thereby allowing the Federal Reserve’s balance sheet to begin shrinking. At 
the same time or sometime thereafter, the Committee would modify the forward 
guidance in its statement. Subsequent steps would include the initiation of tem-
porary reserve-draining operations and, when conditions warrant, increases in the 
Federal funds rate target. From that point on, changing the level or range of the 
Federal funds rate target would be our primary means of adjusting the stance of 
monetary policy in response to economic developments. 

Sometime after the first increase in the Federal funds rate target, the Committee 
expects to initiate sales of agency securities from its portfolio, with the timing and 
pace of sales clearly communicated to the public in advance. Once sales begin, the 
pace of sales is anticipated to be relatively gradual and steady, but it could be ad-
justed up or down in response to material changes in the economic outlook or finan-
cial conditions. Over time, the securities portfolio and the associated quantity of 
bank reserves are expected to be reduced to the minimum levels consistent with the 
efficient implementation of monetary policy. Of course, conditions can change, and 
in choosing the time to begin policy normalization as well as the pace of that proc-
ess, should that be the next direction for policy, we would carefully consider both 
parts of our dual mandate. 

Thank you. I would be pleased to take your questions. 
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RESPONSE TO WRITTEN QUESTIONS OF SENATOR SHELBY 
FROM BEN S. BERNANKE 

Q.1. Chairman Bernanke, in prior testimony before this Com-
mittee, you stated that the Fed chose $600 billion as the appro-
priate amount for QE2 because that amount would roughly cor-
respond to a 75 basis point cut in the policy rate in terms of its 
broad impact. 

• Did QE2 work as intended? Did it have the broad impact of a 
75 basis point cut in the policy rate? 

A.1. As the expansion weakened in 2010, developments with re-
spect to both components of our dual mandate implied that addi-
tional monetary accommodation was needed. The Federal Reserve’s 
second asset purchase program—like more conventional monetary 
policy—was intended to reduce interest rates and boost the prices 
of a broad range of financial assets, thereby supporting spending 
and economic activity. A wide range of market indicators supports 
the view that the program had the desired effects. For example, be-
tween August, 2010—when we announced our policy of reinvesting 
principal payments on agency debt and agency MBS and indicated 
that we were considering more securities purchases—and late 
2010, equity prices increased significantly, volatility in the equity 
market declined, corporate bond spreads narrowed, and inflation 
compensation as measured in the market for inflation-indexed se-
curities rose to historically more normal levels. These market re-
sponses were similar to those that occurred in the months following 
our March 2009 announcement of increased asset purchases. 

As I noted in my testimony, we did not expect so-called QE2 to 
be a panacea for the country’s economic problems. But, we believed 
that the program would both help reduce the risk of deflation that 
had emerged and provide a needed boost to faltering economic ac-
tivity and job creation. In the event, the evidence suggests that the 
program had its intended effect in shoring up economic activity and 
particularly in reducing the risk of deflation, which as we know 
from the Japanese experience can be quite costly in terms of weak-
er economic growth. 
Q.2. Chairman Bernanke, according to your testimony, the eco-
nomic outlook remains uncertain. 

• What specific metrics do you use to determine how the econ-
omy is doing at any point in time? 

A.2. In assessing current and prospective developments in the mac-
roeconomy, the Federal Reserve monitors a wide variety of infor-
mation. For example, we analyze closely data on production, spend-
ing, labor market conditions, prices and financial markets. We also 
look at survey-based indicators of household and business attitudes 
and spending intentions. In addition, the Federal Reserve Banks 
collect anecdotal information from business contacts in their Dis-
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tricts regarding current economic conditions, which we publish in 
the Beige Book eight times per year. Participants in the meetings 
of the Federal Open Market Committee incorporate all of this input 
into the formulation of the economic projections that they prepare 
four times per year. 
Q.3.a. Chairman Bernanke, last month, the Obama administration 
announced that it would release 30 million barrels of oil from the 
Strategic Petroleum Reserve to ‘‘offset the disruption in the oil sup-
ply caused by unrest in the Middle East.’’ When you were an aca-
demic economist, you studied the recessionary effects of oil price 
shocks and the Fed’s responses to those shocks. 

• Has the recent turmoil in the Middle East and the resulting 
increase in oil prices already affected our economic recovery? 

A.3.a. Oil prices jumped significantly as a result of the loss of oil 
production in a number of North African and Middle Eastern coun-
tries earlier this year, with the most substantial supply disruptions 
happening in Libya. The higher energy prices damped consumer 
purchasing power and spending during the first half of the year 
and likely contributed to some of the weakness in economic activity 
in economy that we have observed. 
Q.3.b. How will it affect our economy in the coming months? 
A.3.b. Since their peak in early April, oil prices have retraced some 
of their recent run up. If the lower prices are maintained, these 
negative influences on economic activity should prove to be transi-
tory. 
Q.3.c. Has the Obama administration’s surprise announcement re-
sulted in any meaningful positive effects in the oil markets? Has 
it had any detrimental effects? 
A.3.c. On June 23, the International Energy Agency (IEA) an-
nounced a release of 60 million barrels of oil from strategic stocks 
in light of the significant disruption to Libyan crude supplies and 
the impending seasonal rise in oil demand. Oil from the United 
States’ Strategic Petroleum Reserve (SPR) accounted for about half 
of the total release. Although the IEA announcement prompted an 
immediate decline in oil prices, parsing out the independent influ-
ence of the SPR release on oil prices is extremely difficult given the 
myriad factors that move oil prices. The IEA’s announcement may 
have provided some certainty regarding near-term oil availability 
and, therefore, may have been helpful in reducing oil price vola-
tility in the short run. In the longer run, however, only increased 
production or reduced demand will keep oil prices contained. 
Q.3.d. What type of Fed response should we expect? 
A.3.d. The Federal Reserve does not respond directly to movements 
in oil prices nor to the price of any other individual items. Rather, 
consistent with its statutory mandate, the Federal Reserve seeks to 
foster maximum employment and overall price stability. Accord-
ingly, if movements in oil prices were to have sustained adverse ef-
fects on the macroeconomy—for example, reducing aggregate pro-
duction and employment for a prolonged period or causing inflation 
expectations to become unanchored—those adverse macroeconomic 
developments would factor in the Federal Reserve’s overall policy 
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analysis. As of now, it does not appear that the increase in oil 
prices during the latter part of 2010 and the first part of 2011 has 
had sustained adverse macroeconomic effects. 
Q.4. In an article earlier this year, Dr. Martin Feldstein, former 
President of the National Bureau of Economic Research, expressed 
his concern that QE2 could result in asset-price bubbles that may 
come to an end before the year is over. In recent speeches, you and 
Federal Reserve Bank of Kansas City President Thomas Hoenig 
both have mentioned potential bubbles in agricultural land prices. 

• What data do you examine to evaluate the risk of asset bub-
bles from QE2? 

• In addition to agricultural land prices, do you see any evidence 
of asset bubbles forming in other markets, such as the stock 
market or the bond market? 

A.4. The Federal Reserve, working in concert with the Financial 
Stability Oversight Council (FSOC), reviews a very wide range of 
data in assessing financial conditions and evidence of asset price 
imbalances. The FSOC annual report provides a very useful discus-
sion of the types of data employed in financial stability analysis 
(see http:// www.treasury.gov/initiatives/fsoc/Pages/annual- 
report.aspx). 

As discussed in the FSOC annual report, there are no clear signs 
at present of the types of financial imbalances observed prior to the 
financial crisis. The management of credit and liquidity risk in 
most sectors appears conservative, and market prices do not pro-
vide clear indications of a departure of asset prices from fundamen-
tals. 
Q.5. Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia President Charles 
Plosser has proposed a plan to shrink the Fed balance sheet while 
raising interest rates, based on a simple exit rule proposed by Pro-
fessor John Taylor. Under Taylor’s plan, the Fed would reduce re-
serve balances by $100 billion for each 25 basis point increase in 
the Fed funds rate. 

• Do you agree that this would be a good strategy? 
A.5. As noted in the minutes of the June 2011 FOMC meeting, all 
but one of the FOMC participants agreed on key elements of an 
exit strategy that will adjust the level of short-term interest rates 
and normalize the size and composition of the balance sheet over 
time. (See the discussion on page 3 of the FOMC minutes at 
http://www.federalreserve.gov/monetarypolicy/files/fomcminutes 
20110622.pdf). This strategy would not involve the type of tight 
linkage between increases in the Federal funds rate and incre-
mental declines in reserve balances described by President Plosser. 
However, it is quite likely that reserve balances would gradually 
decline over the same period in which short-term interest rates are 
rising. 
Q.6. Chairman Bernanke, I want to follow up on the FOMC’s dis-
cussion, detailed in the minutes for the June meeting, of the prin-
ciples that will ‘‘guide the strategy’’ of shrinking the Fed’s balance 
sheet. 

• Do you believe that the Fed’s exit plan should be transparent 
to the public? 
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• If so, when can we expect the Fed to announce its formal plan 
for shrinking its balance sheet? 

A.6. The Federal Reserve remains committed to transparency as a 
fundamental principle that supports both the effective implementa-
tion of monetary policy and appropriate accountability of the cen-
tral bank to the Congress and the U.S. taxpayer. The FOMC pro-
vided a considerable level of detail regarding its plans for shrinking 
its balance sheet over time in the minutes of the June 2011 FOMC 
meeting; more details on the precise timing and operational imple-
mentation of these steps will be communicated well in advance of 
any policy actions. Based on current information, it appears that 
more detailed information on the exit strategy will not be necessary 
for some time. In its January 2012, FOMC statement, the FOMC 
noted that it currently anticipates that economic conditions—in-
cluding low rates of resource utilization and a subdued outlook for 
inflation over the medium run—are likely to warrant exceptionally 
low levels for the Federal funds rate at least through late 2014. 
Q.7. Federal Reserve Bank of Philadelphia President Charles 
Plosser has said that the excess bank reserves parked at the Fed 
are ‘‘fuel for inflation.’’ 

• Are you concerned that excess reserves will flow out too quick-
ly and create inflationary pressures? 

• What specific metrics are you using to determine whether the 
Fed should start reining in excess reserves by raising interest 
rates? 

A.7. The FOMC has the tools it needs to remove policy accommoda-
tion at the appropriate time. As noted in the exit strategy discus-
sion in the June 2011 FOMC minutes, even with an expanded bal-
ance sheet and elevated levels of excess reserves, the Federal Re-
serve can put upward pressure on interest rates by raising the in-
terest rate paid on reserve balances. Moreover, the Federal Reserve 
has developed new reserve draining tools such as reverse RPs and 
term deposits that can be used to reduce the quantity of excess re-
serves. Finally, the Federal Reserve can sell securities to remove 
policy accommodation and lower the quantity of reserves. 

The Federal Reserve conducts monetary policy to foster its statu-
tory mandate to promote maximum employment and price stability. 
The Federal Open Market Committee carefully monitors a very 
wide array of economic indicators in assessing the outlook for infla-
tion including variables such as various measures of resource slack, 
cost pressures, and inflation expectations. In addition, the Com-
mittee regularly monitors the level of excess reserves, money 
growth, and bank lending as part of the policy process. In its Janu-
ary, 2012 statement, the Committee noted that it anticipates infla-
tion will run at or below those consistent with the Committee’s 
dual mandate over coming quarters. 
Q.8. The Federal Reserve recently lost a case against Bloomberg in 
which it opposed disclosing to the public the names of banks that 
had borrowed from the discount window. This case is an important 
precedent in improving the Fed’s transparency. 
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• Who made the initial decision to not release the information? 
When Bloomberg decided to litigate, who made the decision to 
fight the release in court? 

• How will the Bloomberg case impact the Fed’s disclosure poli-
cies going forward with respect to its bank regulation activi-
ties? In other words, will you continue to oppose the release of 
this type of information notwithstanding the ruling in 
Bloomberg? 

A.8. It had been the Federal Reserve’s longstanding practice since 
1914 not to publicly release the names, loan amounts, dates or col-
lateral pledged for individual discount window loans. This practice, 
consistent with the practices of major central banks around the 
world, resulted from concern about the stigma that can result from 
public knowledge that a financial institution has borrowed from the 
Federal Reserve, which acts as the lender of last resort to banks 
that are unable to access ordinary sources of liquidity on a short- 
term basis. Although a bank may borrow from the discount window 
for reasons other than financial difficulties, disclosure of just the 
fact that a bank has borrowed can lead to runs on the bank or 
other serious consequences that can harm individual banks or our 
Nation’s economy. 

The decision to defend the Board’s position in litigation initiated 
by Bloomberg was made after consultation between the Board and 
its Legal Division, and the Board’s litigation position was devel-
oped by the Board’s Legal Division. The decision to litigate was 
based on well-established FOIA precedent holding that privileged 
or confidential commercial or financial information obtained from a 
person, the disclosure of which would likely result in competitive 
injury—such as the discount window lending information at issue— 
is exempt from disclosure under FOIA Exemption 4. Following the 
Supreme Court’s denial of the petition for certiorari filed in the 
Bloomberg case, the Board fully complied with the Second Circuit’s 
decision in Bloomberg. 

Section 1103(b) of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Con-
sumer Protection Act, Pub. L. No. 111–203, 124 Stat. 1376, pro-
vides for the disclosure of the names, loan amounts, and certain 
other information about individual discount window loans made 
after the date of enactment. This information must be released 2 
years after the loan was made, and is exempt from disclosure be-
fore that period. 124 Stat. 2118–19. Section 11 03(b) also provides 
for disclosure of borrower information for lending under emergency 
facilities that may be authorized in the future under section 13(3) 
of the Federal Reserve Act no later than 1 year after the effective 
date of the termination of the credit facility. Id. Separately, as re-
quired under section 1109(c) of Dodd-Frank, on December 1, 2010, 
the Board disclosed on its public Web site borrower and related in-
formation concerning emergency credit decisions made prior to July 
21, 2010, under section 13(3). 124 Stat. 2129. This and much more 
information can be found at the following link: http:// 
www.federalreserve.gov/monetarypolicy/bstlsupportspecific.htm. 

The Board believes that the time lag provided for in section 
1103(b) between the time a discount window loan is made and the 
date of publication of borrower-related information about that loan 
will substantially lessen the stigma and potential for harm to bor-
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1 Table 11.3 pgs. 247; FY l2 Historical Tables. 
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lmi/uiadmin/2011.htm. 

rowing institutions that could result from the earlier publication of 
this information while at the same time fostering public account-
ability for the Federal Reserve’s lending practices. The FOIA as 
written and interpreted prior to the enactment of Dodd-Frank 
would not have allowed this balancing of interests. 
Q.9. In a recent editorial in the Wall Street Journal, University of 
Chicago Professor John Cochrane points out that the average ma-
turity of Treasury debt is less than a year. 

• Should we be concerned that the need to frequently roll over 
our debt presents more opportunities for Treasury investors to 
take flight over concerns about the U.S. fiscal condition? 

• What impact could that have on our debt service costs? 
• What impact could that have on the real economy? 

A.9. As noted in the Treasury’s quarterly refunding documents, the 
average maturity of marketable Treasury debt outstanding is about 
5 years—about in the middle of the range observed over the last 
25 years. (See http://www.treasury.gov/resource-center/data-chart- 
center/quarterly-refunding/Documents/TBAC%20Discussion%20 
Charts%20Feb%202012.pdf.) 

The U.S. Treasury issues large volumes of debt on regular week-
ly, monthly and quarterly auction cycles. As was widely noted in 
the discussions over the debt ceiling, the inability to rollover ma-
turing debt would have very serious consequences for debt serv-
icing costs, the level of interest rates, financial market functioning, 
and the real economy. At present, investor demand for Treasury se-
curities remains strong and Treasury yields are very low by histor-
ical standards. However, as I have noted on previous occasions, the 
current fiscal situation of the United States is not sustainable. The 
low level of Treasury yields reflects confidence that Congress and 
the Administration will implement in a timely manner changes 
necessary to bolster the long-run fiscal position of the United 
States. 

RESPONSE TO WRITTEN QUESTION OF SENATOR REED FROM 
BEN S. BERNANKE 

Q.1. Extended unemployment insurance benefits provided during 
the economic downturn have fostered economic stability by helping 
to maintain consumer spending and keeping people in their homes. 

• Nationwide, Federal Government outlays for unemployment 
assistance were $120 billion in 2009 and $158 billion in 2010— 
a marked increase from 2008 levels of $43 billion.1 

• Rhode Islanders have received a total of more than $850 mil-
lion in Federally funded UI benefits since the outset of the 
temporary program.2 

These benefits are set to terminate at the end of this year. 
Considering the Federal Reserve projects the unemployment rate 

to be as high as 8.7 percent (with a low of 7.5 percent) next year, 
what do you believe will be the consequences to the economy and 



111 

the impact felt by individual families if unemployment insurance 
benefits are allowed to lapse? 
A.1. According to the latest estimates, about 3 3⁄4 million persons 
received extended or emergency unemployment compensation 
(EUC) in mid-July, of whom 2,000 were Rhode Islanders. Nation-
ally, EUC benefit payments have averaged about $4 billion per 
month so far this year, of which about $20 million per month was 
received by Rhode Islanders. Were those benefits to lapse, some 
current recipients would likely find jobs. However, given the weak 
economy and the associated scarcity of job opportunities, many oth-
ers would have difficulty finding employment and would likely suf-
fer a significant reduction in their incomes. All else equal, I would 
expect that the expiration of emergency unemployment compensa-
tion would lower total household income and consumption in 2012, 
reducing the rate of economic growth by a small amount. 
Q.2. On Tuesday, July 12, 2011, Bruce Bartlett, a former senior 
policy advisor to both Presidents Reagan and H.W. Bush, warned 
about the possibility of repeating mistakes of the past. Mr. Bartlett 
compared the contraction in Government spending and investment 
during 1937–38, which spurred a recession, to our current situa-
tion. Then, as now, the economy was slowly recovering from a fi-
nancial crisis. Mr. Bartlett wanted us to be ‘‘very careful, because 
it may only take a small misstep on either the monetary or fiscal 
side to the balance.’’ 

In 1937, during the Great Depression, the Government made a 
significant economic policy error. Federal fiscal policy turned sharp-
ly contractionary, and the Federal deficit was reduced to about 2.5 
percent of GDP. The Fed also tightened monetary policy. The result 
was a downturn that extended the Depression. 

Do you think that, under current circumstances, a significant fis-
cal contraction could recreate the ‘‘Mistake of 1937’’? Why or why 
not? 
A.2. The Federal budget swung from a deficit of 4 percent of GDP 
in 1936 to balance in 1937. To be sure, if Congress and the Admin-
istration were to balance the budget as rapidly as occurred in 1937 
this would have significant negative consequences for economic 
growth and employment in the near term. In part, this reflects the 
fact that monetary policy has less capacity than usual to offset a 
contractionary fiscal policy of magnitude of 1937 because interest 
rates are already quite low. In this regard, both fiscal and mone-
tary policy face the challenge of balancing the short run concerns 
of supporting the recovery with long run concerns of sustainable 
fiscal policy and low inflation. I have spoken about the challenges 
facing fiscal policymakers as they try to balance support for the 
economy in the near-term with the need to address long-run fiscal 
imbalances. Fiscal policy actions over the past 2 years have bol-
stered aggregate demand and given some impetus to economic ac-
tivity. For example, the 2009 stimulus package and last year’s fis-
cal policy actions have provided support to the economy during this 
period of weakness without significantly worsening the long-run 
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3 These actions included the extension of Medicaid and education grants, the extension of the 
2001–3 tax cuts and EUC benefits, and the enactment of the payroll tax cut. 

4 Source: Standard and Poors Compustat. 
5 http://www.bea.gov/national/xls/technoteltaxlacts.xls. 
6 http://www.bea.gov/newreleases/national/gdp/2011/pdf/gdp1q11l3rd/pdf. [Table 11] 
7 Receipts from the rest of the world totaled $612 billion in 2011 Q1. 

outlook.3 Recent budget actions and most current proposals to re-
duce the large Federal deficits appear to be designed to phase-in 
the budget restraint over time, again trying to balance these two 
objectives. 
Q.3. As you know, the Federal Reserve’s Flow of Funds report (first 
quarter 2011) indicates that nonfinancial businesses are sitting on 
$1.9 trillion in ‘‘cash’’ defined as total liquid assets [L. 102 Nonfarm 
Nonfinancial Corporate Business, Line 41, Total liquid assets]. 

Can you put this figure into historical perspective? What is the 
Federal Reserve doing—consistent with its statutory mandate to 
foster maximum employment—to get corporations to use their cash 
to make more investments that create jobs? Are there other good 
measures of how much cash on hand is held by corporations? 
A.3. The share of cash in the total assets for nonfinancial corpora-
tions is estimated to have remained at about 11 percent as of 2011 
Q1,4 a high level by historical standards. Part of the explanation 
for these high cash balances may reflect an upward shift in the 
precautionary demand for cash, following the liquidity and credit 
market disruptions seen during the past recession. High cash re-
tention may also result from firms that earn significant profits 
overseas. These firms may choose to hold the resulting cash on bal-
ance sheets of their foreign subsidiaries to facilitate future invest-
ment overseas or to minimize corporate tax expenses. 
Q.4. Corporate profits reached an all-time high in the first 3 
months of 2011, with companies raking in an annualized $1.727 
trillion in pre-tax operating profits.5 6 

Can you explain the disjunction between booming profits and the 
need for more robust job creation? How much of this profit is 
earned overseas? Why isn’t more of it being invested in job-creating 
activities? 
A.4. In the most recently published National Income and Product 
Accounts (NIPAs), total corporate profits increased in the first 
quarter of 2011 to $1.876 trillion, an 8.8 percent gain relative to 
year-earlier levels. A large fraction of those profits, about one-third, 
were earned from operations outside of the United States.7 In fact, 
in the first quarter, receipts from foreign operations grew 12 per-
cent from four quarters earlier, while profits generated from U.S. 
domestic operations grew 8 percent. As overseas operations have 
become a larger part of the business of U.S. parent companies, a 
higher fraction of the parent firms’ profits are generated using for-
eign, as opposed to domestic, labor. Moreover, firms may be reluc-
tant to invest in activities that create jobs in the United States if 
they are uncertain about the prospects for growth in U.S. demand, 
especially if they perceive that opportunities for sales and profit 
growth primarily lie in overseas markets. 
Q.5. Most States began the new fiscal year on July 1st. Even 
though revenues are rising, many States are not in a position to 
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8 Federal aid to State and local governments from the 2009 Recovery Act totaled $79 billion 
in 2009, $124 billion in 2010, and $63 billion (at an annual rate) so far in 2011. Some of this 
decline has been offset by last year’s $25 billion extension of Medicaid and education stimulus 
grants. 

close their budget gaps. Consequently, States have been forced to 
make massive spending cuts, often impacting the most vulnerable 
populations. 

How has the lapse of Federal funding flowing from the tem-
porary assistance provided by the Recovery Act affected States? 
Will cuts in State spending exacerbate the economic situation? If 
current expectations weaken, would further Federal stimulus in 
the short term help prevent protracted stagnation? Why or why 
not? 
A.5. State and local government budgets have been under consider-
able stress owing to the combination of a deep recession and their 
balanced budget requirements. Some of this strain has been allevi-
ated by the extraordinary Federal aid given through the 2009 Re-
covery Act and the subsequent aid package enacted last year. Nev-
ertheless, the Bureau of Economic Analysis estimates the real 
State and local purchases have been contracting since early 2008. 
This decline in State and local government spending reduced real 
GDP growth by two-tenths percent in 2010 and by four-tenths per-
cent so far in 2011. 

With the depth of the recession and slowness of the recovery it 
is likely that State and local governments are spending a large 
fraction of the extra Federal aid, but it is difficult to determine how 
much of the recent weakness in State and local spending reflects 
the decline this year in Federal aid from the Recovery Act and how 
much reflects their reaction to weak revenues.8 In particular, be-
cause the size and timing of the grants has been known from some 
time, State and local governments may have tried to smooth 
through the 2010 bulge in grants, saving some of the 2010 grants 
to support spending in 2011. Moreover, in the aggregate data the 
pickup in State and local tax revenues over the past year has offset 
the downshift in Federal grants. State government revenues re-
main low relative to pre-recession trends, though, and layoffs in the 
sector have shown no signs of slowing. This suggests that budgets 
are still strained and that additional Federal aid would likely pro-
vide some support for State and local spending. 
Q.6. Consumer spending accounts for roughly 70 percent of overall 
economic activity. As a result of the recession and the impact on 
wealth, personal savings as a percentage of disposable personal in-
come has increased from its recent low of 0.8 percent in April 2005 
to 5.0 percent in May (down from recent peak of 8.2 percent in May 
2009). 

How can we spur the type of economic growth we need in order 
to create jobs in light of consumers appropriately decreasing spend-
ing and increasing savings in response to a weak economy? 
A.6. You are correct to emphasize the importance of consumer 
spending for the economic outlook. The forces weighing on con-
sumer spending, which include a need by many households to in-
crease savings in a difficult economic environment, are an impor-
tant part of the reason that the FOMC projects only moderate eco-
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nomic growth and a relatively slow decline in the unemployment 
rate during the next couple of years. Nevertheless, increasing per-
sonal saving, and the exercise of sound judgment in personal finan-
cial affairs more generally, are not inconsistent with a healthy 
growing economy, and sound household decisionmaking can lay the 
foundations for sustainable economic growth. Looking forward, I do 
expect consumer spending to play some role in contributing to an 
economic recovery that gradually picks up steam as households 
make further progress in strengthening their balance sheets, as 
credit availability improves further, and especially as job and in-
come prospects gradually improve. The Federal Reserve is com-
mitted to doing its part to meet its statutory mandate to promote 
maximum employment in the context of price stability. 
Q.7. On Wednesday, June 29th, the Federal Reserve announced 
the extension of temporary U.S. dollar liquidity swap lines with 
several foreign central banks until August 2012. What were the 
reasons for this action? What are the strengths and weaknesses of 
this policy? 
A.7. These lines were extended because we believe they are helpful 
in relieving persistent strains in dollar funding markets abroad, 
which, as we saw beginning in 2007, can spill over into U.S. finan-
cial markets. Given the level of integration of global finance and 
the possibility that further turbulence in European financial mar-
kets would spill over into the United States, it seemed prudent, as 
a precautionary measure, to leave the lines in place for a while 
longer. 

The main policy benefit of the swap lines is to help contain the 
spread of pressures in global dollar funding markets into the 
United States. In addition, the swap lines carry minimal risk to the 
Federal Reserve. The lines convey no exchange rate risk and neg-
ligible counterparty risk because the Federal Reserve’s transactions 
are only with other foreign central banks, whose credit standing is 
of the highest quality. The credit risks that result from lending the 
dollars acquired through the swap lines are borne solely by the for-
eign central banks. 
Q.8. In April of this year, the Federal Reserve, the OCC, and the 
OTS released their Interagency Review of Foreclosure Policies and 
Practices, which resulted in the OCC’s consent orders requiring 
banks to hire independent consultants to do a foreclosure review of 
past practices. As part of this review, these consultants will be re-
viewing the bank’s loss mitigation activities. That is, whether the 
banks properly evaluated families for loan modifications in order to 
avoid foreclosures that could have been prevented. 

Do you believe that as part of this review, which requires the 
consultants to ‘‘1) identify borrowers that have been financially 
harmed by deficiencies identified in the independent review and 2) 
provide remediation to those borrowers where appropriate,’’ the 
consultant should review the file of every borrower who was denied 
a loan modification? 
A.8. For the four mortgage servicers that have entered into Con-
sent Orders with the Federal Reserve, we are requiring a 100 per-
cent review of all denied loan modifications for loans serviced by 
the servicer that were pending foreclosure at any time from 1/1/ 
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2009 until 12/31/2010, as well as where a foreclosure sale occurred 
during that time period. 
Q.9. Please describe any recent trends in bank’s converting from 
Federal to State charters, or from State to Federal charters. For ex-
ample, a number of smaller financial institutions in Massachusetts 
recently became Federal Reserve members, including Canton Co- 
operative Bank, Reading Co-operative Bank, Walpole Co-operative 
Bank, among others. 

• Please provide a list of the banks converting their charters to 
the Federal Reserve during the past the last year. 

• Please describe all factors that contribute to this trend. 
• Please describe any incentives or encouragement by Federal 

Reserve staff relating to these conversions. 
A.9. During the year ended June 30, 2011, 36 banks converted to 
State member banks supervised by the Federal Reserve. This in-
cludes eight national banks that were previously supervised by the 
Office of the Comptroller of the Currency and 28 State-chartered 
banks that were previously supervised by the Federal Deposit In-
surance Corporation. Over the last 5 calendar years (through De-
cember 31, 2010), the average number of banks converting to State 
member banks was 24 and the number of conversions in each year 
ranged from 19 to 35. This suggests that the trend has not changed 
significantly. 

A number of factors may affect a bank’s decision to change char-
ters. These include the perceived quality of supervision by a given 
agency, an agency’s perceived level of knowledge about local mar-
ket conditions, the accessibility and responsiveness of regulators, 
the amount of examination fees charged by State versus Federal 
regulatory agencies, or the perceived benefits of a national charter 
for operating a nationwide banking operation. 

The Federal Reserve typically accepts only banks rated 1 or 2 
under the interagency CAMELS rating system as State member 
banks. New State members also generally must have satisfactory 
or better consumer compliance or CRA ratings and present no 
major unresolved supervisory issues. In some cases, pre-member-
ship examinations may be required as described in the Federal Re-
serve’s SR Letter 11–2/CA Letter 11–2. In addition, the Federal Re-
serve complies with the July 1, 2009 interagency Statement on Reg-
ulatory Conversions which, among other things, emphasizes that 
the agencies will not entertain regulatory conversion applications 
that undermine the supervisory process. Federal Reserve staff 
members do not provide incentives to converting banks, but the 
Federal Reserve Banks provide information on the process for ap-
plying for membership when asked and on their Web sites. Also, 
when approached by banks about potential membership they ex-
plain their approach to supervising State members, provide infor-
mation on the support and guidance that they provide to current 
State members, and answer banks’ inquiries related to member-
ship. 
Q.10. What is the counterparty exposure in the financial sector on 
the ‘‘sell side’’ to Government paper (U.S. Treasuries, Fannie Mae, 
Freddie Mac, etc.) Please include all financial firms for which you 
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have data, including but not limited to bank holding companies, 
hedge funds, and money markets. In addition, please list the in-
crease to cash collateral that may required if any of this Govern-
ment paper defaults, as well the cash which may be necessary to 
pay off the contract. 
A.10. The first attached table shows Treasury and Agency holdings 
of the top 50 bank holding companies as of March 31, 2011. It is 
based on FRY9–C filings. 

The Federal Reserve does not directly regulate hedge funds or 
money market funds. The Securities and Exchange Commission 
(SEC) may be better positioned to respond to that part of the re-
quest. 

The procedures for addressing changes in collateral values, in-
cluding due to default of the issuer of the debt serving as collateral, 
vary substantially across types of activities and by counterparties. 
In a worst case scenario, a USG default would require the party 
posting U.S. Treasury debt as collateral to replace the full amount 
with cash or other eligible assets, as specified in the underlying 
contract(s) governing each bilateral relationship. The second at-
tached table shows the fair value of Treasury and Agency securities 
posted by OTC derivatives counterparties and held by the top 50 
bank holding companies. 

Separately, under a credit default swap contract where the USG 
is the reference entity, the party having sold default swap protec-
tion will need to pay to the buyer of protection the notional amount 
less the recovery rate, under cash settlement. In the worst case sce-
nario, where there is zero recovery on a defaulted USG debt obliga-
tion, the amount necessary to payoff the contract would be the no-
tional amount of protection sold. Data on CDS, including those con-
tracts referencing the USG, is compiled by the Trade Information 
Warehouse (TIW) managed by DTCC. See http://www.dtcc.com/ 
products/derivserv/dataltableli.php. 
Q.11. What is the size of the market for credit default swaps on 
United States Government paper? What are the consequences of 
low rates on these contracts if the Government defaults on its obli-
gations? What other current market forces may affect this market? 
A.11. According to the Depository Trust and Clearing Corporation 
(DTCC) $29.4 billion in gross notional CDS on U.S. Treasury debt 
were outstanding as of July 29, 2011. However, a significant pro-
portion of this gross value reflects offsetting trades between 
counterparties in which, for example, a party’s long position is ef-
fectively unwound by entering into an offsetting short position. 
Measured on a net notional basis, $5.6 billion in CDS referencing 
U.S. Government paper were outstanding. Whether measured on a 
gross or a net basis, the market for CDS on U.S. Government paper 
is miniscule relative to the $9.9 trillion in Federal Government 
debt held by the public. CDS on U.S. Government paper represents 
well under 1 percent of the outstanding CDS on single-name ref-
erence entities (both corporates and sovereigns). DTCC reports that 
overall $15.8 trillion gross notional and $1.2 trillion net notional 
CDS on single name reference entities were outstanding as of July 
29. 
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CDS spreads reflect market participants’ forward-looking expec-
tations about the likelihood and severity of a reference entity de-
fault as well as participants’ risk appetite. To the extent that mar-
ket participants revise expectations about the likelihood or severity 
of a U.S. sovereign default upward, spreads on CDS referencing 
U.S. treasuries could be expected to rise. Were a default to actually 
occur, it is likely that no new contracts referencing U.S. treasuries 
would be negotiated until existing contracts were settled. Spreads 
on all CDS (not just those referencing U.S. Government paper) also 
depend on market participants’ overall willingness to bear risk. 
Both CDS and bond spreads tend to fall during times when market 
participants are more willing to take on risk and rise when market 
participants become more risk averse. 

Spreads on short-duration CDS referencing U.S. treasuries in-
creased substantially prior to the passage of the Federal debt-limit 
expansion on August 2. The spread on 1-year maturity CDS on 
U.S. treasuries reported by Markit Partners hovered around 10 
basis points from January through April but grew to about 30 basis 
points in May and peaked at 57 basis points on July 27. By market 
close on August 3, the spread had fallen back to a still somewhat 
elevated level of 26 basis points. 
Q.12. What analysis has been done to evaluate and quantify the 
gross credit default exposure of the top 10 banks in the United 
States to credit defaults swaps written on European sovereign? 
What source data does the Federal Reserve use in such analysis? 
A.12. Banking supervisors and analysts at the Board and Reserve 
Banks have been monitoring the peripheral European sovereign 
CDS exposures of the largest U.S. bank holding companies (BHCs) 
for some time. Analyses have tended to focus on the market risk 
and counterparty profiles for each BHC. Special analyses—e.g., 
with regards to ‘‘hedge (in)effectiveness’’ and its impacts—are done 
as events in the region and supervisory assessments warrant. 

With regards to CDS, a variety of data sources are utilized and 
cross-checked against each other to ensure that risk assessments 
are not reliant on any single source: 

1. CDS trade data from DTCC’s Trade Information Warehouse 
provides useful perspectives on trends, in particular with 
gross and net notional positions referencing different 
sovereigns and the identities of counterparties. (Note, 
counterparty credit risk exposures cannot be inferred from 
DTCC CDS data. See #3 below.) 

2. Targeted supervisory data requests provide opportunities to 
gather additional information (e.g., mark-to-market informa-
tion, which the DTCC CDS data lacks) from different perspec-
tives (e.g., risk systems). Given that over-the-counter deriva-
tives trading is bilateral, data provided by one firm can be 
cross-checked against the same data provided by a 
counterparty firm to gauge data robustness and to flag areas 
for supervisory followup. 

3. Continuous monitoring of firms’ top European bank 
counterparty credit risk exposures, internal scenario loss esti-
mates, liquidity/funding conditions and ad hoc internal risk 
management analyses provide insight into BHCs’ evolving 
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risk profiles. Although these are not CDS-specific, the risks 
from CDS positioning are reflected, and as such can be cross- 
checked against information gleaned from the sources above. 

4. Regulatory reporting data provides another perspective. 

Attachment for Question 9 
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Attachments for Question 10 
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